STIGMA EXPERIENCE AMONG CHINESE AMERICAN IMMIGRANTS WITH SCHIZOPHRENIA

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from New York University Silver School of Social Work

GRACE YING CHI LAI

January 2018

Examining Committee Members:

Tazuko Shibusawa, Ph.D. (Advisor)

Deborah Padgett, Ph.D.

Victoria Stanhope, Ph.D.

Lawrence Yang, Ph.D.

ProQuest Number: 10688783

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10688783

Published by ProQuest LLC (2017). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved.

This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC.
789 East Eisenhower Parkway
P.O. Box 1346
Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

STIGMA EXPERIENCE AMONG CHINESE AMERICAN IMMIGRANTS WITH SCHIZOPHRENIA

GRACE YING CHI LAI

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from New York University Silver School of Social Work.

Accepted Without Revisions Committee Chair	Tazuko Shibusawa, Ph.D.
[] Minor Revisions Required (Chair to supervise) Committee Member	Deborah Padgett, Ph.D.
[] Revision and Review Required (Full Committee) Committee Member	Victoria Stanhope, Mh.D.
[] Rejected Committee Member	Lawrence Yang, Ph.D.
Date: December 17,2017	

I hereby guarantee that no part of the dissertation which I have submitted for publication has been heretofore published and (or) copyright in the United States of America, except in the case of passages quoted from other published sources; that I am the sole author and proprietor of said dissertation; that the dissertation contains no matter which, if published, will be libelous or otherwise injurious or infringe in any way the copyright of any party; and that I will defend, indemnify and hold harmless New York University against all suits and proceedings which may be brought and against all claims which may be made against New York University by reason of the publication of said dissertation.

Grace Ying Chi Lai

Dec 16,2017

This dissertation is dedicated to my always-supportive parents, my husband, and our sweet, thoughtful children.

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Tazuko Shibusawa for her continuous support during my doctoral journey. Her dedication in helping me complete my dissertation has motivated me through this long process. I would like to thank the rest of my dissertation committee: Dr. Victoria Stanhope, Dr. Deborah Padgett, and Dr. Lawrence Yang. Their insightful comments and feedback have guided me through the completion of the dissertation.

Special thanks to Dr. Lawrence Yang for the opportunity to join his research team. His encouragement and patience have allowed me to grow professionally during this journey. His knowledge and expertise in the stigma area have inspired me to develop a new perspective when working with the Chinese immigrant population.

I am indebted to the participants of this study. Thank you for sharing your life stories and showing your resilience through challenges.

I could not have finished this dissertation without the love, support and sacrifices from my family and friends. Thank you to my parents, Lai Shek Wah and Lai Trieu Muoi, my siblings and their spouses, Ivan Trieu and Maria Lam, Jason and Mandy Oban, for always believing in me. To my husband, Jacky Leung, and our children, Ian, Faith, Elizabeth and Silas, thank you for motivating me and loving me when I felt I have nothing left to give you. All the prayers, thoughts, and encouraging words from my friends have brightened my days when I doubted if I could continue on. I am forever grateful to have you in my life.

Lai, G. Y. Stigma Experience among Chinese American Immigrants with Schizophrenia. New York University, PhD, January, 2018.

Stigma has profound consequences on individuals with mental illness, specifically schizophrenia. Individuals who suffer from internalized stigma further struggle with self-esteem, quality of life, and their recovery from mental illness. To avoid rejection and being the target of discrimination, these individuals often practice coping strategies such as secrecy and withdrawal. However, these coping strategies can eventually lead to poor self-image, restricted opportunities in life, and other negative outcomes. Cultural beliefs relating to the concept of *face* and Confucianism further exacerbate the effects of stigma among Chinese American individuals who suffer from mental illnesses.

This study examined the experiences of stigma and coping strategies used by Chinese Americans with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. The associations between internalized stigma, experienced stigma, loss of face, and coping strategies were also analyzed. Unlike previous studies, this study found that internalized and experienced stigma were not associated with coping strategies used by the Chinese American participants; instead, the cultural construct of loss of face was associated with secrecy as a coping strategy. This study calls for further research on the effects of this cultural construct on one's recovery.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1 STATEMENT OF THE STUDY ISSUE	.1
Purpose of the Study	.1
Significance of the Study	.4
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	.7
Definitions of Stigma	.7
Mechanisms of Stigma1	0 ا
Labeling Theory1	10
Modified Labeling Theory1	4
Definitions of Concepts	6
Internalized Stigma1	16
Negative Impacts of Internalized Stigma1	17
Experienced Stigma1	18
Coping With Stigma	22
Chinese Immigrants in the United States	30
Stigma Experiences Among Chinese Individuals With Severe Mental	
Illness	33
Coping Strategies Among Chinese Individuals	35
Chinese Traditional Beliefs and Stigma	36
Loss of Face 3	38
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY4	11
Research Questions and Hypotheses4	11
	11

Hypotheses	42
Research Design	42
Study Participants	43
Procedures	44
Presentation of Variables	44
Participant Demographics	44
Internalized Stigma	45
Experienced Stigma	45
Coping Strategies	45
Loss of Face	45
Measurements	46
Demographic Characteristics Questionnaire	46
Internalized Stigma	46
Experience of Stigma	47
Experience of Loss of Face	49
Coping Strategies	49
Data Analysis	50
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	55
Description of the Sample	55
Descriptive Findings of the Major Variables	58
Characteristics of Participants' Experiences of Stigma	58
Internalized Stigma	58
Experienced Stigma	59

Types of Coping Strategies Adopted by Participants60
Association Between Participants' Internalized Stigma and Coping
Strategies69
Association Between the Participants' Experienced Stigma and Coping
Strategies70
Experience of Loss of Face and its Association With Coping Strategies70
Bivariate Correlations Among the Key Variables71
Associations Between Sociodemographic Correlations and Key Variables72
Internalized Stigma73
Experienced Stigma73
Secrecy Level73
Disclosure Level74
Experience of Loss of Face74
Regression Analysis of Coping Strategies (Secrecy and Disclosure)75
Post Hoc Analysis76
Regression Models using Employment and Religion as Predictors77
Summary78
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS80
Stigma Experiences80
Coping Strategies83
Secrecy83
Disclosure84
Experience of Loss of Face85

Coping Strategies and the Association With Stigma and Loss of Face86
Limitations87
Implications for Practice and Policy
Practice Implications
Implications for Social Work Policy and Education90
Future Research
Conclusion94
REFERENCES96
APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS QUESTIONNAIRES122
APPENDIX B: LINK'S DEVALUATION –DISCRIMINATION SCALE (DDS)123
APPENDIX C: MENTAL HEALTH CONSUMERS' EXPERIENCE OF STIGMA
SCALE
APPENDIX D: EXPERIENCE LOSS OF FACE128
APPENDIX E: COPING STRATEGIES129
APPENDIX F: CODE BOOK
APPENDIX G: BIVARIATE CORRELATIONS AMONG KEY VARIABLES BY
EMPLOYMENT131
APPENDIX H: BIVARIATE CORRELATIONS AMONG KEY VARIABLES BY
RELIGION132

List of Tables

Table 1 Advantages and Disadvantages of the Different Coping Strategies	25
Table 2 Frequency Distributions of Participants' Demographic Characteristics	56
Table 3 Statistics on the Five Scales	58
Table 4 Statistics on the Devaluation–Discrimination Scale	59
Table 5 Frequency of the Most Experienced Stigma	60
Table 6 Frequency of the Secrecy Scale	61
Table 7 Frequency of the Disclosure Scale	65
Table 8 Bivariate Correlations Among Key Variables	72
Table 9 Secrecy Level Regressed on Internalized Stigma, Experienced Stigma and	
Loss of Face	75
Table 10 Degree of Disclosure Regressed on Internalized Stigma, Experienced Stigma and	l
Loss of Face	75
Table 11 Regression Results for Internalized Stigma	77
Table 12 Regression Results for Secrecy Level	77
Table 13 Regression Results for Degree of Disclosure	78

Chapter 1

Statement of the Study Issue

Purpose of the Study

Stigma has profound consequences on individuals with mental illness including negative stereotyping, discrimination, limited access to life opportunities, and social exclusion (Haraguchi, Maeda, Xiao, & Uchimura, 2009; S. Lee, Chiu, Tsang, Chui, & Kleinman, 2006; Spriggs, Olsson, & Hall, 2008; Yang, 2007). Although individuals with socially unattractive physical disabilities and illnesses such as HIV/AIDS, epilepsy, and obesity experience stigma, it is mental illness, specifically schizophrenia, that has been identified by public-attitude surveys as one of the most stigmatized conditions (Angermeyer & Schulze, 2001; Westbrook, Legge, & Pennay, 1993). Despite an increase in public education and general knowledge regarding mental illness, stigmatizing attitudes toward people with mental illness have not improved. A systematic review and meta-analysis examining 16 studies on public attitudes toward mental illness across countries revealed that although literacy about mental illness has increased, attitudes toward individuals with mental illness have not changed for the better, and have even deteriorated toward people with schizophrenia (Schomerus et al., 2012). At the same time, a 2006 study of 5,251 individuals in the United States regarding their attitudes toward mental illness indicated that 70% did not believe a person with a mental illness could pull himself or herself together if they wanted to, and about 30% did not think that a person with a mental illness could eventually recover (Kobau, DiIorio, Chapman, & Delvecchio, 2010). Not only do individuals with a mental illness face discrimination from the general public, they also experience unfair treatment by their families and social networks. These

negative experiences, in addition to internalized stigma, directly contribute to individuals' struggles with self-esteem (Livingston & Boyd, 2010; Wahl, 1999), quality of life (Depla, de Graaf, van Weeghel, & Heeren, 2005; El-Badri & Mellsop, 2007; Livingston & Boyd, 2010; Lundberg, Hansson, Wentz, & Björkman, 2008; Rosenfield, 1997) and their recovery from mental illness (Yanos, Roe, Markus, & Lysaker, 2008). For these reasons, stigma needs to be addressed and reformed to facilitate the recovery of individuals with mental illness.

The harmful label of mental illness, specifically schizophrenia, causes rejection and discrimination at three levels: individual, structural, and internal. Individuals with chronic mental illness are often shunned or avoided (Dickerson, Sommerville, Origoni, Ringel, & Parente, 2002). In addition, many are treated as less competent, and are less likely to be employed (Dickerson et al., 2002; S. Lee et al., 2006). Furthermore, individuals with mental illness experience structural forms of stigma such as hurtful media representation and unequal treatment by healthcare providers or health insurers because of their psychiatric conditions (Forrester-Jones & Barnes, 2008; Link & Phelan, 2001b). Stigmatized individuals also suffer from the harmful effects of internalized stigma (Link, Cullen, Struening, Shrout, & Dohrenwend, 1989). Once stigmatized individuals internalize the belief that they will be devalued and the target of discrimination, they may fear rejection from others and may use coping strategies such as secrecy and withdrawal to avoid such discrimination (Link et al., 1989). However, these coping strategies could eventually lead to poor self-image, restricted opportunities in life, and other negative outcomes (Corrigan & Watson, 2002; S. Lee et al., 2006; Watson & River, 2005).

Although researchers have studied mental health stigma widely among diverse populations in Australia, China, India, Japan, Sweden, and the United Kingdom (e.g., Björkman, Angelman, & Jönsson, 2008; Blignault, Ponzio, Rong, & Eisenbruch, 2008; Forrester-Jones & Barnes, 2008; Haraguchi et al., 2009; Saravanan et al., 2008), few researchers have examined the experiences of stigma among Chinese with severe mental illness in the United States. Cultural beliefs relating to the concept of *face* and Confucianism further worsen the effects of stigma among the Chinese. In the United States, Chinese Americans form the largest subgroup among Asian Americans (27%) with a population of 4 million, and their numbers continue to increase (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). Therefore, it is important to expand knowledge on the issue of mental health stigma among the Chinese American population to aid the affected individuals and benefit society at large.

The purpose of this study is to examine (a) the experience of internalized stigma among Chinese American immigrants with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, (b) the effects of internalized stigma on these individuals and their coping strategies in managing the illness, (c) the extent to which Chinese immigrants with schizophrenia spectrum disorders experience loss of face and how this loss influences their coping strategies, and (d) the association between different coping strategies and level of experienced stigma among this population. Examining the stigma experience among these individuals will provide valuable direction for implementing multilevel interventions to counter the negative effects of stigma for this group. Findings will further suggest specific avenues for culturally competent clinical and community interventions. A comprehensive understanding of people's stigma experience will inform mental health professionals with

constructive ideas to work with individuals, communities, and larger legislative organizations to improve the well-being of Chinese immigrants who suffer from severe mental illness.

Significance of the Study

The 2005 National Comorbidity Study (Kessler, Chiu, Demler, & Walters, 2005) estimated that 30% of U.S. citizens aged 18 and older suffered from a diagnosable mental disorder in a given year. When using the 2010 census, about 70.3 million U.S. adults were affected with a mental disorder. To emphasize the omnipresent effects of stigma, the 1999 Surgeon General's Report on Mental Health placed overcoming the effects of stigma at the forefront of the nation's efforts to promote mental health (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2001). Schizophrenia, among other mental illnesses, has been associated with the most negative reactions, with those afflicted often labeled as dependent, dangerous, and unpredictable (Crisp, Gelder, Rix, Meltzer, & Rowlands, 2000). Schizophrenia, a chronic severe brain disorder, affects approximately 1.1% of the U.S. population aged 18 or older in any given year (National Institute of Mental Health, 2008). Although the National Institute of Mental Health (2013) reported a 1.1% lifetime prevalence rate of schizophrenia in the U.S. adult population (those over 18 years of age), an estimated 1.0% 1-month prevalence rate of psychotic disorders was found in only four provinces in China (Phillips et al., 2009); China has 34 provincial-level administration units. The National Latino and Asian Americans Study estimated that Asian American groups to have a 17.91% lifetime prevalence rate of any mental disorder (Takeuchi, Hong, Gile, & Alegría, 2007). In fact, Chinese American women have the highest lifetime prevalence of depression among all Asian American groups. However, because the

Composite International Diagnostic Interview (the measure of psychopathology in the National Latino and Asian Americans Study) has not been found to be reliable for diagnosing psychotic disorders, no adequate prevalence estimate of schizophrenia exists among Chinese Americans. Migration is a major factor that affects individuals' mental health. One study (Bourque, van der Ven, & Malla, 2011) found that first-generation immigrants were 2.5 times more likely to develop a psychotic disorder than their native-born counterparts, suggesting that first-generation Chinese Americans may be at a higher risk of developing a psychotic disorder.

The effect of stigma among Chinese immigrant groups is further magnified due to cultural, linguistic, and structural barriers that relate to immigration and acculturation experiences. Chinese immigrants with mental illness and their family members frequently experience pervasive stigma that may stem from Chinese historical and cultural influences such as Confucianism and the centrality of face (C. H. Ng, 1997; Yang, 2007). Confucian practices emphasize social harmony and social order. In Confucian ideology, members of a society are obligated to fulfill their roles in society to achieve personal harmony with others, and one's inability to meet his/her responsibility will bring social discord and disorder. In addition, face directly aligns with one's social power in the Chinese community. Traditionally, having a chronic mental illness such as schizophrenia signifies the loss of face for the individual and the family, thereby diminishing social power to engage in the interpersonal world among other Chinese individuals (Yang & Kleinman, 2008). To be denied participation in the interpersonal world is to be denied full personhood, which then reduces access to essential life opportunities such as work

and marriage (Yang et al., 2007). As a result, these community attitudes severely marginalize individuals with mental illness and their families.

As mentioned above, this study provides key data to understand the stigma experience among Chinese American immigrants with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Although stigma is a significant problem among the Chinese-immigrant group, insufficient information is available to properly understand the nature of stigma among this group, or about culturally appropriate responses. This group warrants attention from the social work profession to reduce stigma and decrease the negative consequences related to stigma.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Stigma and its consequences are multifaceted. The disciplines of sociology, psychology, and social work, worldwide, have all contributed to the study of this complex issue. This study focused on the little-known stigma experience of Chinese American immigrants who suffer from a severe mental illness. This chapter will review current literature regarding stigma, its related social theories, common coping strategies regarding mental illness, and salient aspects of Chinese cultural beliefs that align with stigma.

Definitions of Stigma

In the seminal book, *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*,

Goffman defined stigma as a deeply discrediting attribute that reduces the bearer "from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one" (1963, p. 3). People with a stigmatizing condition are often treated as "not quite human" (Goffman, 1963, p. 5) and suffer from various kinds of discriminations that reduce life opportunities. Goffman (1963) categorized three types of stigma: (a) abomination of the body such as any type of physical deformity, (b) deviations of individual character traits including mental disorders, unemployment, and drug addiction, and (c) tribal stigma, which addresses traits based on race, ethnicity, nationality, and religion that are considered to deviate from social norms. Building on Goffman's description that stigma is an association between an attribute and a stereotype, social psychologists Jones and colleagues (1984) conceptualized stigma as a mark that connects a person to undesirable characteristics, which in turn produces negative reactions and discrimination from the majority. Jones et

al. illustrated the following six dimensions that determine the public's reaction to individuals with stigmatizing conditions: (a) the concealability of the condition, meaning that the visibility of the condition to others influences the production of negative societal reactions; (b) the course of the condition in that the actual or perceived alterability of the stigmatizing condition plays a major role in how the person would be treated; (c) disruptiveness, which is the degree to which the person's stigmatizing condition hinders the ability to socially interact with others; (d) the aesthetic qualities of the condition, which refers to those with certain physical disabilities who are often rejected and seen as disgusting; (e) the origin of the condition, such as if an individual is seen as responsible for creating or causing the condition, the person is treated worse than those who are seen as not responsible for their condition; and (f) the peril of the condition, which signifies that the greater the fear or threat one feels toward a condition, such as violence or contagiousness of a condition, the more a stigmatizing attitude emerges. According to Jones and colleagues, these six factors play critical roles in shaping and influencing the stigma experiences and the interpersonal interactions of individuals with stigmatizing conditions (Link & Phelan, 2001b).

To bridge the gap of existing stigma research, Link and Phelan (2001a) and Link, Yang, Phelan, and Collins (2004) proposed another stigma conceptualization that includes six interrelated components. This sociological framework focuses on how stigma manifests on stigmatized individuals when all six components are present. In the first component, human differences are distinguished and labeled but not all human differences are identified. However, once a group or an individual has been labeled (e.g., labeled as having mental illness), the effects of stigma begin. In the second component,

labeled persons are linked to undesirable attributes and negative stereotypes; for example, individuals with mental illness are believed to be incapable. Third, a separation emerges between "us" and "them," a distinct segregation of the labeled persons who are seen as completely different from other citizens. Fourth, emotional responses stem from the result of stigma experienced by the stigmatized (e.g., shame) and the stigmatizers (e.g., fear and pity). In the fifth component, the labeled persons experience status loss and discrimination due to stigma that further leads to unequal outcomes. The last component involves the use of power (e.g., social, economic, or political) by the stigmatizers in the stigmatizing process that eventually results in harmful effects on the labeled persons. Link and colleagues (2001a, 2004) proposed that when power co-occurs with the other stigma components, negative consequences arise and cause harmful effects on the stigmatized individuals.

Many conditions or disabilities such as physical deformities, addictions, homosexuality, HIV/AIDS, and mental illness are considered to be stigmatizing (Goffman, 1963). According to public-attitude surveys (Angermeyer & Schulze, 2001; Westbrook et al., 1993), mental illness is the most stigmatizing condition among these disabilities. Furthermore, schizophrenia has often been at the forefront of stigmatized mental illnesses, and those who are diagnosed are often labeled as dependent, dangerous, and unpredictable (Angermeyer & Schulze, 2001; Crisp et al., 2000). People with schizophrenia often face worse attitudes from the public than people with depression (Jorm, Korten, Jacomb, Christensen, & Henderson, 1999; Nordt, Rössler, & Lauber, 2006). Symptoms among people with schizophrenia such as bizarre behaviors, disheveled appearance, disorganized behaviors, and poor social skills serve as marks that produce

negative stereotypes (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). People who endorse these stereotypes often react emotionally with feelings of fear and resentment, which in turn can result in prejudicial attitudes against individuals who appear to fit the negative stereotype. This prejudicial attitude can then lead to the behavioral response of discrimination (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005; Corrigan, Larson & Kuwabara, 2010; Yang, Kleinman, & Cho, 2008).

However, not everyone who possesses traits described above has a mental illness, nor do people with mental illness necessarily exhibit these traits. Some individuals with mental illness are able to conceal their symptoms and perform routine functions.

Goffman (1963) described these differences as discredited and discreditable stigma.

Individuals with discredited stigma are those who possess characteristics that are readily observable to the public such as a person with a physical disability. In contrast, those who are able to conceal traits have discreditable stigma and often experience less stigma and discrimination than those who have discredited traits. Because not all symptoms are readily noticeable by others, scholars have suggested the concept of labeling as the mark that identifies an individual as a psychiatric patient which results in their becoming stigmatized (Link et al., 1989; Scheff, 1974). When individuals are labeled as having a psychiatric disorder, people may immediately associate them with the negative stereotypes of mental illness and they will then become victims of stigmatization.

Mechanisms of Stigma

Labeling Theory

Labeling theory is a major sociological perspective often used to describe stigma.

Labeling theory rests on symbolic-interaction theory, which highlights the importance of

the socially constructed nature of values, and the significance of interpersonal actions on stigma (Yang et al., 2008).

Scheff applied labeling theory to mental illness in his 1966 book, *Being Mentally Ill*. Scheff (1966) proposed an alternate explanation of mental illness based more on a cultural model than the traditional medical model. The psychiatric perspective of the traditional medical model asserts that individuals who are labeled as mentally ill are, in fact, mentally ill. These individuals exhibit symptoms of mental illness in their behaviors and are therefore marked as mentally ill (Gove, 1980a). In contrast, Scheff claimed that individuals who are labeled with mental illness are, in fact, no different from those who are not labeled, and that it is the culture that defines mental illness. Labeling theory emphasizes the effects of societal attributes on the labeling of mental illness (Gove, 1980b), and suggests a direct link between social reactions and the emergence of mental illness (Link et al., 1989).

According to labeling theorists, when individuals exhibit behaviors that differ from societal norms, society will react to these behaviors by either denying or labeling them (Scheff, 1975). Denying those behaviors means to normalize the behaviors and provide a rationale for them. When denying occurs, labeling theory hypothesizes that the deviant behaviors will subside or be channeled into more acceptable forms by society. However, when the behaviors and the individuals are labeled as deviants, the behaviors persist. Labeling theory suggests that when individuals are labeled as deviant, society subsequently treats these individuals as deviants (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). For example, when individuals are labeled as having mental illness, society will respond to such a label with fear, disgust, and avoidance. Subsequently, when the individuals with

mental illness internalize these negative societal conceptions through a system of punishments and rewards, they adopt those negative beliefs and continue to become chronically mentally ill (Scheff, 1966). For instance, when the "labeled deviant" attempts to resume his or her previous self and status, he or she will at least be distanced by society, possibly be the target of discrimination or even penalized (Scheff, 1966). Such punishment would be the inability to find gainful employment or appropriate housing for which the person is qualified. In contrast, when these individuals show insight about their mental illness and are able to identify their symptoms, they will be rewarded, such as being praised by psychiatrists (Scheff, 1966).

These kinds of punishments and rewards not only constrain individuals to their deviant roles, the individuals will then further internalize these roles into their central identity, which results in chronic mental illness (Scheff, 1966). This internalization is considered secondary deviance, which further contributes to or exacerbates mental illness and symptoms. Individuals who are labeled as deviants are then forced into the deviant group and the group's subculture (Becker, 1963). Such group membership further enforces the individual's deviant identity, forming an irreversible socialization process (Gove, 1980b).

Because of its assertion that mental illness is a manifestation of societal influence, labeling theory has received severe criticism over the last few decades. Numerous critics have refuted Scheff's claims that labeling causes mental illness (Gove, 1980a; Ruscio, 2004). Gove (1980a) believed that people form their perceptions about individuals with mental illness based on their observations of the individuals' behaviors, not because of the label given. Because mental health stigma has been a serious social issue even before

the formal establishment of any classification of psychopathology, it appears a weak link of causality that the label of mental illness would, in itself, have caused stigma (Ruscio, 2004). Rather, critics of Scheff's claims asserted that the label of mental illness facilitates individuals to access treatment that eventually minimizes the severity of the disorder and reduces the associated stigma (Gove, 1980b; Ruscio, 2004). Gove (1980b) claimed that the effects of hospitalization are not long lasting, and that the stigma does not affect individuals' functioning in the community after their discharge (Link et al., 1989).

Although labeling theorists contend that society is inclined to hinder deviant individuals to resume their previous normal roles, Gove (1980b) emphasized positive aspects of societal reaction that could facilitate the return of labeled individuals to their normal state. For example, society may be more inclined to provide support during the labeled individuals' treatment or training process that helps correct the deviant behaviors. Additionally, labeling may create a positive influence (Ruscio, 2004). When people use a label to explain an individual's deviant behaviors, it is less likely that society will blame the individual for these personality traits, thereby lowering social rejection and blame of the deviant individuals.

An empirical study by Gove and Fain (1973) demonstrated the positive impact of psychiatric hospitalizations and labeling. Extensive interviews with 429 individuals with mental illness illustrated that a large number of participants experienced positive outcomes of their psychiatric hospitalizations and the resulting labeling. They further reported that the hospitalization helped improve social relationships and increase capabilities in problem-solving skills. Additionally, a study with more than 800 college

students showed that most participants agreed that deviant behaviors, not labels, caused social rejection and stigma (Kirk, 1974).

Modified Labeling Theory

Link and colleagues (1989), in contrast, argued that critics of labeling theory downplayed the long-term negative effects and consequences of stigma by overlooking deep-seated prejudices toward people with mental illness. Based on empirical research, modified labeling theory addresses the damaging consequences of labeling (Link et al., 1989). Building on Scheff's theory, modified labeling theory focuses on discrimination (i.e., social distance) and devaluation (i.e., loss of status) and outlines a five-step process of the consequences of labeling (Link et al., 1989). First, modified labeling theorists suggested that once individuals are officially labeled with a mental illness through contact with psychiatric treatment, negative societal concepts regarding people with mental illness become relevant to them. Second, once the negative societal perceptions regarding mental illness become relevant to the labeled individuals, they internalize the negative thoughts and believe they are devalued and the target of discrimination. Third, as a result, they respond in three ways toward their stigmatizing status: (a) secrecy in which patients conceal their treatment history, (b) withdrawal or limiting their interactions to those who are aware and accepting of their condition, and (c) educating by disclosing their condition to change negative views at the risk of discrimination (Link et al., 1989). Fourth, modified labeling theorists focus on the negative outcomes of the stigma process. When individuals with mental illness cope with stigma by being exposed to negative community attitudes (Step 1) or respond to their stigma (Step 3), they may feel shame and embarrassment or face discrimination, which results in social isolation,

low self-esteem, and restricted opportunities in life such as un- or underemployment, and delayed or noncompliance with mental health treatment. The four steps can result in a state of vulnerability that, in turn, may increase the chances of repeated episodes of mental illness (Step 5; Link et al., 1989).

Studies conducted based upon the modified labeling theory appear to confirm the negative effects of internalized stigma (Kleim et al., 2008; Link, Cullen, Frank, & Wozniak, 1987; Lundberg, Hansson, Wentz, & Björkman, 2007; Yow & Mehta, 2010). For example, in a study of 593 respondents, Link and colleagues (1987) found that study respondents were inclined to believe that psychiatric consumers would face discrimination and devaluation. In addition, study participants agreed that psychiatric consumers would be rejected by most people and would be excluded from social situations such as friendships, jobs, and intimate relationships despite the absence of deviant behaviors. Psychiatric consumers were likely to endorse one of the coping strategies such as withdrawal and secrecy that modified labeling theory suggested. Furthermore, repeat-treatment-contact consumers had fewer social supports when compared with nontreatment community respondents and untreated cases (those who met the criteria of a Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders diagnosis, but were not being treated or officially labeled) after controlling for sociodemographic factors. Another study (Lundberg et al., 2007) found that a majority of study participants (73%) believed employers would disregard applications from former mental health consumers, favoring applications from other applicants. In addition, study participants thought mental health consumers were viewed by others as less trustworthy (67%) and less intelligent (50%) when compared to average citizens. More than half of the study participants

believed psychiatric consumers would face severe devaluation and discrimination. These studies support the notion of modified labeling theory that psychiatric consumers tend to receive less social support from people outside their family, due to the stigma of mental illness.

Definitions of Concepts

Internalized Stigma

Internalized stigma, sometimes called perceived stigma or self-stigma, arises when individuals with mental illness believe in and internalize the negative stereotypes of mental illness endorsed by the general public. The internalization of stigma damages the quality of life of mental health consumers and delays their recovery. According to labeling theory, individuals form conceptions of mental illness such as viewing those with mental illness as being less intelligent, less capable, and undependable by internalizing cultural stereotypes through family teachings, education, and media portraits early on in life (Link, 1987; Scheff, 1966). These conceptions become particularly relevant for individuals who become psychiatric consumers. For example, a study of 127 individuals with a diagnosis of schizophrenia found that 64% of study participants believed they would be seen as societal failures after psychiatric hospitalization (Kleim et al., 2008). In addition, studies of individuals with schizophrenia found that a majority of respondents believed employers would favor other applicants over mental health consumers, and that mental health consumers would not be hired to care for children (Lundberg et al., 2007; Yow & Mehta, 2010). A systematic review that examined eight studies on stigma experienced by individuals with schizophrenia indicated that individuals suffer from internalized stigma especially regarding work, dating, and social

interactions, and believed others in society view them unfavorably (Tan, Klainin-Yobas, & Creedy, 2011).

Negative Impacts of Internalized Stigma

Internalized stigma and its processes may exacerbate one's existing mental illness and cause additional damage including restricted social networks, low self-esteem, low self-efficacy, poor quality of life, and depressive symptoms (Kleim et al., 2008; Rosenfield, 1997; Yanos et al., 2008; Yow & Mehta, 2010). A meta-analysis of 45 studies examining internalized stigma among people with mental illness supported this finding that self-esteem, empowerment, self-efficacy, quality of life, and social support all negatively aligned with internalized stigma (Livingston & Boyd, 2010). This meta-analysis also concluded that high levels of internalized stigma significantly associated with hopelessness (r = -.58, p < .001), poorer self-esteem (r = -.55, p < .001), decreased quality of life (r = -.47, p < .001), and weakened social support (r = -.28, p < .05). Internalized stigma linked to greater psychiatric symptom severity (r = .41, p < .001) and poor treatment adherence (r = -.38, p < .001). A study in Sweden found a positive correlation between internalized stigma and perceived devaluation and discrimination experiences (r = 0.45, p = .001; Lundberg et al., 2007).

In contrast, other researchers contended that people have divergent reactions to stigma and not all mental health consumers internalize stigma or experience loss of self-esteem (Watson, Corrigan, Larson, & Sells, 2007; Watson & River, 2005). Some consumers become empowered through group identification as "persons with mental illness" and by believing that the stigma is unjust (perceived legitimacy). Furthermore, noting only a modest association between stigma and self-esteem, Thoits (2011) asserted

the need to incorporate stigma resistance into classical and modified labeling theory. Thoits (2011) found evidence of stigma resistance from previous research. For example, about 50% of hospital patients with severe psychiatric disorders did not identify themselves as mentally ill whereas another 35–45% of clubhouse participants did not feel different or ashamed because of their mental illness (Doherty, 1975; Estroff, Lachicotte, Illingworth, & Johnston, 1991; Link, Struening, Neese-Todd, Asmussen, & Phelan, 2002; Warner, Taylor, Powers, & Hyman, 1989). Moreover, a study by Ritsher and Phelan (2004) reported high level of stigma-resisting beliefs such as mental health consumers can also have a good and fulfilling life, among 25% of a Veterans Administration outpatient sample. Thoits (2011) suggested two forms of stigma resistance: challenging and deflecting to protect individuals from devaluation. Challenging involves "pushing back" others' negative views or actions, whereas deflecting means "deliberately blocking an outside force" without engaging in conflict (p. 11). Thoits (2011) asserted that challenging others' negative beliefs reinforces a sense of empowerment and may raise one's self-esteem; however, confronting others may also risk damaging interpersonal relationships. When one uses deflecting to resist stigma, he or she forms a "cognitive shield" against discriminatory behaviors and is able to maintain self-esteem (Thoits & Link, 2016, p. 3). I discuss these stigma-resisting coping strategies and their effects further in the coping strategies section.

Experienced Stigma

It has long been recognized that the harmful labels of mental illness, specifically schizophrenia, result in rejection and discrimination of people with the illness in addition to internalized stigma. People with mental illness often experience stigma on an

individual level (also known as public stigma or social stigma) and a structural level (also known as institutional stigma). On an individual level, some of the most cited sources of stigma include employers, family members, and general community members (Świtaj et al., 2012). Employers and supervisors treat many people with mental illness are treated as less competent by employers and supervisors, and are less likely to be employed (Arthur, Knifton, Park, & Doherty, 2008; Dickerson et al., 2002; S. Lee et al., 2006; Link et al., 2002; Świtaj et al., 2011). A national survey of 1,301 mental health consumers showed that even when people with mental illness were employed, they often found their coworkers or supervisors were unsupportive and unaccommodating after learning of their illness (Wahl, 1999). In addition, individuals with mental illness often experience being shunned and avoided by others (Dickerson et al., 2002; El-Badri & Mellsop, 2007; Wahl, 1999). Link and colleagues (2002) found, in their study of 88 consumers in a communitybased psychiatric rehabilitation clubhouse, that half of the respondents reported being treated differently after being hospitalized, whereas 45% of them were being avoided by people with whom they normally associated.

Regarding stigma from community members, studies reported that mental health consumers often heard others speaking unfavorably about people with mental illness (Depla et al., 2005; El-Badri & Mellsop, 2007; Świtaj et al., 2011). These stigma experiences on an individual level have a damaging impact on the affected person's mental health. Stigma negatively aligns with stigmatized people's quality of life (Depla et al., 2005; El-Badri & Mellsop, 2007; Lundberg et al., 2008; Świtaj, Wciórka, Smolarska-Świtaj, & Grygiel, 2009) and self-esteem (Wahl, 1999). These experiences also triggered social avoidance (Wahl, 1999) and emotional distress (S. Lee, Lee, Chiu, & Kleinman,

2005; Wahl, 1999). Wahl (1999) found that 95% of study participants reported feeling a lasting negative impact from stigma and over half experienced diminished self-esteem.

In addition to experiencing stigma on an individual level, people with mental illness experience structural forms of stigma, a driving force of health disparity (Hatzenbuehler, Phelan, & Link, 2013). Similar to discrimination relating to race, ethnicity, and sexual orientation, several stigma-induced processes, including the availability of resources, interpersonal relationships, psychological and behavioral responses, and stress, contribute to adverse health outcome among people with mental illness. They experience reduced resources in the areas of employment, wages, housing, education and health care. For example, individuals with mental illness receive fewer overall insurance benefits than the general public (Druss, Allen, & Bruce, 1998; Tovino, 2012), and many health insurance companies offer only minimal mental health coverage to consumers at large (Cohn, 2015). For example Medicare Part A, a public healthcare program that provides medical insurance for individuals over age 65 or those under 65 with certain disabilities restricts beneficiaries to a lifetime maximum of 190 days of inpatient mental health treatment in a psychiatric hospital. However, this program does not restrict nonpsychiatric inpatient treatment (Tovino, 2012). Moreover, individuals with mental illness generally receive less medical services than those who do not have a diagnosed mental illness perhaps due to inadequate health insurance (Druss et al., 1998, Sipe et al., 2015). About one-third of study participants had been turned down for health insurance because their mental illnesses were considered "preexisting conditions" (Wahl, 1999, p. 472). In addition, these individuals were often denied psychiatric treatment because their health insurance was not sufficient to pay for the treatment (Wahl, 1999).

In addition, stigma has a negative effect on one's status and interpersonal influence. Evidence also shows that stigma causes social isolation, which is linked to poor health outcomes. Moreover, having to cope with stigma would, over time, diminish individuals' ability to effectively regulate their emotions, and people with mental illness can engage in maladaptive mechanisms to cope with stigma. Lastly, being exposed to chronic conditions, such as discrimination and unfair treatment, leads to increased stress that compromises the individual's health. Two major sources of discrimination and unfair treatment faced by people with psychiatric conditions are hurtful media representations and unequal treatment by healthcare providers (Arthur et al., 2008; Forrester-Jones & Barnes, 2008; Link & Phelan, 2001b). While people in society hold damaging stereotypes relating to schizophrenia, media sources such as films, newspapers, and television programs further portray and label individuals with this illness as crazy killers, incompetent beings, "psychos" and "nut cases" (Arthur et al., 2008; Sullivan, Hamilton & Allen, 2005, p. 305; Watson & Corrigan, 2005). The media plays a major role in contributing to mental health stigma and providing misinformation about mental illness (Wahl, 2003). The sensationalism in the media's portrayal of people with psychiatric disorders often attracts public attention and brings the media industry financial rewards and acclaim (Wahl, 2003). These messages further intensify and reinforce the negative treatment people with mental illness receive in their daily lives.

Although many assume that mental health professionals hold more positive attitudes toward people with mental illness because of their education and frequent contacts with mental health consumers, studies have found otherwise. Many mental health professionals' beliefs are no different from those of the general public, and may be

even more negative (Jorm et al., 1999; Lauber, Anthony, Ajdacic-Gross, & Rossler, 2004; Servais & Saunders, 2007). Psychiatrists often hold negative stereotypes specifically of consumers diagnosed with schizophrenia as dangerous and incapable (Lauber et al., 2004; Üçok, Polat, Sartorius, Erkoc, & Atakli, 2004), and are also likely to maintain social distance from them (Lauber et al., 2004; Nordt et al., 2006). Other medical professionals including nurses and psychologists also hold negative attitudes about social distance, marrying, or working with someone with schizophrenia (Ishige & Hayashi, 2005; Magliano, Fiorillo, De Rosa, Malangone, & Maj, 2004). These mental health professionals often believe people with mental illness are ineffective, undesirable, and unable to control their emotions, and that people in the society risk harm from those who have a mental illness such as schizophrenia (Ahmead, Rahhal, & Baker, 2010; Servais & Saunders, 2007).

Stigma negatively influences individuals in the areas of interpersonal relationships, material resources, rights and identity, discrimination, and stereotypes by community, families, friends, colleagues, mental health professionals, and media portrayals (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2011). These stigma processes increase the risk for adverse health outcomes that ultimately contribute to health inequality among people with mental illness.

Coping With Stigma

Individuals with stigmatizing statuses respond to and cope with their situations differently. Individuals with mental illness have three main coping responses: secrecy, withdrawal, and educating others (Goffman, 1963; Jones et al., 1984; Link et al., 1989; Schneider & Conrad, 1980). One coping resource is the management of information

about mental illness. Using secrecy, individuals with mental illness conceal their mental illness and treatment history from relatives, friends, and employers to avoid rejection (Goffman, 1963; Link, Mirotznik, & Cullen, 1991). Goffman (1963) described the act of concealing one's stigmatizing condition as "passing" (p. 42). Goffman believed most people would chose to disguise their condition on some occasions due to the assumed societal virtue and reward in being considered normal. Another coping strategy is withdrawal, such that people limit their social interactions with those who have similar conditions and those who would accept their mental illness. Goffman classified people who are accepting into two groups: "the own" and "the wise" (p. 19), who are people who share the same condition and people who accept and sympathize with people with the stigmatizing condition. The "wise" could be people who work with the stigmatized individuals such as nurses, doctors, or therapists. When individuals employ the strategy of withdrawal, they could avoid rejection from others in society. However, the use of secrecy and withdrawal as coping strategies often results in negative outcomes such as discrimination, social isolation, low self-esteem, restricted opportunities in life such as employment, and delayed or inadherence to mental health treatment (Link et al., 1989).

Although some individuals respond to their illness with secrecy and withdrawal, others choose to educate others regarding mental illness. This "preventive telling" aims to provide others with accurate information about mental illness to decrease negative attitudes toward individuals with mental illness (Link et al., 1991; Schneider & Conrad, 1980). Secrecy and withdrawal as coping strategies positively correlated with a higher degree of perceived stigma, whereas educating others negatively aligned with a higher degree of perceived stigma (Kleim et al., 2008; Yow & Mehta, 2010). Educating others

necessitates self-disclosure of one's own mental illness. However, whether to disclose one's illness is not a clear-cut decision because of the potential cost and benefit associated with disclosure.

Drawing from research on the lessons learned from revealing one's orientation in the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender community, Corrigan (2005) made some parallel comparisons with disclosure among persons with mental illness. Corrigan suggested that experiences with social disapproval or isolation could cause a negative impact on one's self-esteem and self-efficacy. In addition, people with mental illness who choose to disclose may experience job and housing discrimination. Furthermore, individuals who have disclosed their mental illness may be coerced to receive mandated, involuntary psychiatric treatment, possibly due to preconceived impressions or misunderstandings. In contrast, advantages also accrue from disclosing one's mental illness. Jones and colleagues (1984) believed that stigmatized persons were less adversely affected, felt more at ease, and felt less tense and less self-conscious if their condition were known by those with whom they interacted. In addition, Corrigan et al. (2010) found that individuals who disclosed their mental illness generally felt better about themselves and that the shame associated with mental illness decreased. Furthermore, individuals who disclosed their mental illness received more support from those who shared a similar illness, as well as from other people (Corrigan et al., 2010).

Amid the advantages and disadvantages of disclosing, many individuals with mental illness continue to avoid telling others about their conditions (also see Table 1). Wahl (1999) found that the majority of respondents (74%) avoided telling others outside their immediate families about their illness. However, they remained fearful that their

illness would be discovered. Another study of 500 mental health consumers revealed that the majority of consumers were unwilling to disclose their mental health conditions to acquaintances and colleagues because of their perceived high level of stigmatization from this group (Bos, Kanner, Muris, Janssen, & Mayer, 2009).

Table 1

Advantages and Disadvantages of the Different Coping Strategies

Coping strategies	Pros	Cons
Social Avoidance and Secrecy	Avoid potential rejection and discrimination	Remain fearful that their condition would be found out Higher level of anxiety Feel guilty and shameful Restricted social network Possibly increased rate of relapse
Selective Disclosure/Concealment	Receive support	Being shunned Experience discrimination
Indiscriminant Disclosure	Less anxiety Less self-conscious Receive support	Experience discrimination May be coerced to receive mandated psychiatric treatment
Broadcasting/Educating/Political Activism	Feel empowered	Experience discrimination May be coerced to receive mandated psychiatric treatment

As with the decision to disclose, coping with secrecy and withdrawal also has its costs and benefits. As stated earlier, individuals who decide to keep their mental illness a secret or withdraw from people may be able to avoid potential rejection and discrimination. However, harmful outcomes from these coping strategies also may accrue. Individuals who choose to hide their illness may feel guilty for not revealing their situation to intimate others (Goffman, 1963). The feeling of guilt and shame for hiding the stigmatizing conditions may lead to fear of being discovered, and therefore negatively influence social interactions (Jones et al., 1984). Withdrawal and secrecy as coping strategies are widely considered dysfunctional coping in that they reduce social contacts

and constrict social networks (Kleim et al., 2008). Social withdrawal often aligns with worse outcomes in individuals with schizophrenia (Robinson et al., 1999). In addition, these dysfunctional coping strategies often lead to an increased rate of relapse and rehospitalization (Larsen, Johannessen, & Opjordsmoen, 1998; Robinson et al., 1999), and tend to lead to a higher level of anxiety (Vauth, Kleim, Wirtz, & Corrigan, 2007; Yow & Mehta, 2010).

Recently, Thoits and Link (2016) proposed alternative stigma-resisting strategies that could lead to higher self-esteem and lower depressive symptoms. A study of 65 individuals with severe mental illness from four psychiatric hospitals in New York City (NYC) and New Jersey found that study participants who used secrecy or avoidance strategies had poorer self-esteem and more depressive symptoms. In contrast, participants who challenged devaluation and discrimination had higher self-esteem and those who used deflection as a strategy had higher self-esteem and a more satisfactory quality of life. It is crucial to examine the association between stigma and these coping strategies, which is the focus of this dissertation. Results may allow professionals to design appropriate interventions to minimize negative consequences.

Because people experience advantages and disadvantages from keeping their illness a secret rather than disclosing, the choice of disclosure or secrecy is a difficult decision for those suffering from mental illness. An ethnographic study conducted by Herman (1993) comprehensively examined four types of information management in coping with the stigma of mental illness: selective concealment, therapeutic disclosure, preventive disclosure, and political activism. Individuals who practice selective concealment have to make decisions about to whom to disclose their illness. They make

their decision based on their perception of who they consider "safe others" or "risky others" (Herman, 1993, p. 307). They base their decisions on prior experiences with different types of people with whom they have shared the information. Herman described a hierarchical pattern of selective disclosure, according to the degree of closeness. For example, people with mental illness generally share the information regarding with family members first, followed by close friends and then acquaintances. Some common selective concealment strategies include avoidance of selected "normals," withdrawal, the use of disidentifiers, and the avoidance of stigma symbols. For avoidance of selected "normals," one would avoid interacting with "risky others" as well as redirecting conversations to mask the mental illness. Others who choose to withdraw would choose not to interact with others. Those who use disidentifiers would make jokes about people with mental illness or protest against them. Another form of selective concealment is through the avoidance of stigma symbols such as avoiding contact with friends who also have mental illness and avoiding treatment. Herman asserted that selective concealment is a temporal process and the majority of mental health consumers would move from secrecy to alternative disclosure strategies.

The next step, therapeutic disclosure involves disclosing a discreditable attribute to some trusted others including family members, close friends, and other mental health consumers. Therapeutic disclosure helps relieve anxieties and frustrations, elevate one's self esteem, and allow for "renegotiation of personal perceptions of mental illness as a discreditable attribute" (Herman, 1993, p. 312).

Third, preventive disclosure means disclosing a discreditable attribute to selected individuals who do not have a mental illness to influence others' attitudes toward people

with mental illness. For example, one would disclose mental illness early in a relationship to prevent future rejection as the relationship moves forward. People commonly use four methods of preventive disclosure: medical disclaimers, deception or coaching, education, and normalization. When using medical disclaimers, individuals explain their mental illness through a medical interpretation that focuses on the biochemical aspect of the illness to transfer the responsibility out of the self and to evoke sympathy. Another method of preventive disclosure is deception or coaching that involves being coached by people such as parents, close friends, spouses, and other individuals who share the same conditions in distorting one's condition to present their illness in the least stigmatizing manner. Education is the third kind of preventive disclosure that aims to inform people, providing accurate information about mental illness. However, the effort to educate others may not be successful for certain individuals in that people with mental illness have to make judgments as to whom to educate. Last, mental consumers may use normalization as a form of preventive disclosure. They would participate in various activities to show they are capable of performing like people without mental illness. They also attempt to get people to focus on their positive attributes instead of their stigmatizing condition.

The last type of information management of mental illness is political activism. With the goal of self-affirmation, political activism has a threefold function: (a) to reject the labels placed on individuals with mental illness, (b) to provide people with mental illness with a positive identity and to enhance a new sense of purpose, and (c) to produce a new and positive image to others in the society. In contrast to other management strategies that cope with an individual's own perceptions about mental health stigma,

political activism considers stigma a societal issue. Activists attempt to promote social change by countering or removing the stigma attached to mental illness through activities such as demonstrations, rallies, and attending conferences regarding consumers' rights, for example. Through participation in such activist groups, individuals with mental illness internalize beliefs that reject societal values and negative stereotypes that are placed on people with mental illness; instead, they adopt a more positive identity.

A growing number of studies have focused on internalized stigma, experienced stigma, and coping strategies among individuals with mental illness (e.g., Depla et al., 2005; Dickerson et al., 2002; El-Badri, & Mellsop, 2007; Fung, Tsang, & Corrigan, 2008; Kleim et al., 2008; Lauber et al., 2004; Lundberg et al., 2008; Świtaj et al., 2011; Vauth et al., 2007; Yanos et al., 2008). However, a paucity of studies investigated the experiences of stigma and accompanying coping strategies among Chinese-immigrant populations with mental illness. Given the rapid increase in the number of Chinese immigrants to the United States, it is imperative for mental health professionals to understand how Chinese immigrants cope with the stigma associated with mental illness to facilitate effective services to support their recovery. It is particularly important to understand how culture shapes stigma experience and coping responses. The diagnoses of mental illness and its stigma deeply tie to culture, and when studying mental illness stigma, researchers should be cautious to resist grouping everyone as if they share the same experience (Abdullah & Brown, 2011). Stigmatizing attitudes and related behaviors toward mental illness vary by culture (Abdullah & Brown, 2011; Rao, Feinglass, & Corrigan, 2007). Specific cultural beliefs shape public views and self-stigma about mental illness. One's cultural history, socialization and culturally informed attitudes

toward mental illness determine whether one endorses a stereotype. In addition, once one endorses a stereotype of mental illness, such cultural values influence whether one expects discrimination and stigmatization. Therefore, understanding how culture influences stigma is essential when researchers examine mental illness stigma.

In the following section, I first present an overview of Chinese immigrants and mental illness in the United States. Because of the paucity of studies on Chinese immigrants with mental illness, I review specific cultural aspects of stigma and coping in this population by reviewing studies that have been conducted in the United States, China, and Taiwan.

Chinese Immigrants in the United States

Chinese Americans form the largest subgroup among Asian Americans (27%) with a population of 4 million (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). The U.S. Chinese population has increased by 40% since the year 2000. New York City (NYC) has the largest Chinese population of any city outside of Asia (New York City Planning, 2016). An average of 552,550 Chinese (including Chinese, Taiwanese, Hong Kongese, or Cantonese), about 7% of the city's overall population, lived in NYC between 2010 and 2014 (New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, 2017). About 33.6% of Chinese immigrants in NYC came to live in the United States in the year 2000 or later (Asian American Federation, 2013). Chinese residing in NYC had less schooling than the citywide population. In the adult Chinese population in 2011, 38% did not have a high school diploma, compared with 21% of the citywide population. In addition, 61% of Chinese reported having limited English proficiency (someone who spoke English "well,"

"not well," or "not at all") in 2011, significantly higher than the citywide figure of 23% (Asian American Federation, 2013).

Chinese also had a lower income than the general population in NYC. Their per capita income was \$23.315, lower than the citywide figure of \$30,717. They also tended to have larger households (averaging 3.12 people) compared to 2.63 of the average NYC household. About 15% of Chinese households had more than one occupant per room compared to 9% of general NYC households that had more than one occupant per room (Asian American Federation, 2013)

Despite no adequate prevalence estimates of schizophrenia among Chinese Americans, one study found that Chinese Americans have the highest lifetime prevalence of depression (10.1%) among all Asian American groups (Takeuchi, Alegría, Jackson, & William, 2007). In addition, migration was identified as a major factor that affects individuals' mental health. A study found that first-generation immigrants are 2.5 times more likely to develop a psychotic disorder compared with their native-born counterparts (Bourque et al., 2011).

Although mental illnesses affect Asian Americans similar to their effects on other ethnic groups, Asian Americans are less likely to seek mental health services compared to European Americans (S. Y. Lee, Martins, Keyes, & Lee, 2011; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001). Several cultural and structural factors can be attributed to the underuse of services among this population (Weng & Spaulding-Givens, 2017):

(a) cultural, language, knowledge, and transportation barriers; (b) impact of the modelminority myth; and (c) service and policy needs of immigrants. Many Asian Americans find mental health issues to be shameful and embarrassing and are reluctant to talk and

express their feelings. In addition, they fear being ostracized, losing the respect of others, and losing face, thereby bringing dishonor to the family. Moreover, the language barrier is a reason Asian Americans, especially older adults who migrated to the United States later in life, do not seek services. Linguistically appropriate services may not be readily available for the many subgroups of Asian Americans who speak different dialects.

Another barrier is the lack of knowledge of available mental health services in the community and ways to access the complicated mental health system. Lack of transportation can also be in issue for people who live in areas where public transportation is not readily available.

The model-minority myth, in which Asian immigrants are stereotyped as being successful and wealthy, often leads to the perception that the Asian community has minimal needs (Weng & Spaulding-Givens, 2017). This minimization of needs can lead to the invisibility of this racial minority in the areas of policymaking and program development.

Moreover, refugees, older adults, and undocumented immigrants have specific challenges that affect their ability to access mental health services (Weng & Spaulding-Givens, 2017). Many refugees lack health and mental health education and therefore may not be able to seek assistance when issues arise. Older adults who moved to the United States later in life also have a more difficult time integrating into mainstream society, due to language barriers and limited social interactions. Last, undocumented immigrants experience additional stress due to their legal status. They fear being caught and face pressure to pay off smuggling debts. Employers, immigration lawyers, and landlords may

have taken advantage of them. These cultural and structural factors negatively impact Asian Americans' use of mental health services.

Stigma Experiences Among Chinese Individuals With Severe Mental Illness

Studies conducted in China reported similar types of discrimination toward people with mental illness as those reported in the United States (Chien, Yeung, & Chan, 2012; Chung & Wong, 2004; S. Gao, Phillips, & Wang, 2005; S. Lee et al., 2005). Researchers indicated that these individuals experience stigma on individual and structural levels. A study in Hong Kong, examining employers' attitudes toward hiring people with psychotic disorders, found that 86% of the 30 employers queried expressed concern about safety threats posed by individuals with psychotic disorders to fellow employees or customers (Tsang et al., 2007). In addition, 50% of employers also worried about unpredictable and erratic behaviors of individuals with mental illness. A study in Hong Kong revealed that more than a third of the 480 participants reported being treated negatively by friends and employers after revealing their mental illness (S. Lee et al., 2005). Furthermore, more than half of participants reported they perceived their families and spouses regarded them as highly violent. Another study in mainland China among individuals with schizophrenia disclosed that a majority of participants reported moderate to severe effects of stigma on their lives (Phillips, Pearson, Li, Xu, & Yang, 2002).

Other studies in China (Chung & Wong, 2004; Chien et al., 2012) also found that mental health consumers experienced structural discrimination including offensive media portrayal of mental illness and negative stereotype beliefs among mental health professionals. Mental health professionals in Hong Kong held negative stereotypes against individuals with severe mental illness (Chien et al., 2012). Some major

stereotypes professionals held were that people with mental illness were unpredictable, weird, abnormal, and emotional. In addition, mental health professionals believed individuals with severe mental illness should be admitted to psychiatric hospitals against their will, have their driving licenses revoked, and enforce abortion in case of pregnancy.

In addition to experiencing stigma on individual and structural levels, Chinese individuals with severe mental illness also suffer from internalized stigma. In Hong Kong, researchers found that many psychiatric consumers believed employers would not hire people with a history of mental illness and their chance of a promotion at work would be greatly affected if their mental illness were revealed (Chung & Wong, 2004; S. Lee et al., 2005). Some also believed they would be fired if their employers found out about their history of mental illness. Moreover, many individuals with severe mental illness felt they were being despised or disliked by family members, believed friends would distance themselves, and anticipated partners would end their relationship.

Another study in China found that 70% of participants experienced mild to moderate level of internalized stigma (Lv, Wolf, & Wang, 2013). More than half of study participants reported feeling out of place in the world because of their mental illness, and more than 60% of them believed mental illness has spoiled their lives. Another 50% disagreed or strongly disagreed that people with mental illness make important contributions to society. A more recent study conducted in Taiwan found that Taiwanese participants diagnosed with schizophrenia had a higher level of internalized stigma than their counterparts in Western societies (Hsiao, Lu, & Tsai, 2017). In addition, stressors relating to stigma aligned with diminished quality of life and family sense of coherence.

Interestingly, a number of studies noted that Chinese consumers did not report high rates of direct discrimination and rejection (Chien et al., 2012; Chung & Wong, 2004). One hypothesis is that these individuals are more inclined to keep their mental illness a secret and are more likely to withdraw from social situations, resulting in less direct discrimination (Chien et al., 2012; Chung & Wong, 2004).

One of the few studies that examined Asian Americans with mental illnesses revealed similarity and differences in their stigma experience compared to other ethnic groups (Wong, Collins, Cerully, Seelam, & Roth, 2016). Asian Americans comprised 7% of the total of 1,066 study participants. Asian Americans reported higher level of self-stigma and were less hopeful than White participants that people with mental illness could make a contribution to society. Asian Americans also were more likely to feel alienated because of their mental health issues comparing to Whites. This study found that 95% of Asian American participants felt inferior to those who did not have a mental health problem. In contrast, a significantly higher number of Asian American participants agreed that individuals with mental illness can lead a normal life, with treatment, when compared to White participants.

Coping Strategies Among Chinese Individuals

Studies identified secrecy as one of the most frequently endorsed coping strategies among Chinese individuals suffering from severe mental illness (Chien et al., 2012; Chung & Wong, 2004; S. Lee et al., 2005; Lv et al., 2013). In addition, this population commonly practiced avoidance and withdrawal. For example, Lv and colleagues (2013) found that 70% of study participants in China avoided telling those outside their immediate family about their psychiatric illness, whereas S. Lee et al. (2005),

in a study conducted in Hong Kong, indicated that more than half of participants deliberately concealed their mental illness from friends and coworkers. Moreover, a study of 90 mental health consumers with schizophrenia in Singapore (with close to 80% of the participants being Chinese) found that among the five studied coping strategies, secrecy was the most highly endorsed strategy adopted by respondents; educating others was the least endorsed strategy (Yow & Mehta, 2010). In a Taiwanese study, participants chose to withdraw from others to keep their illness private (Hsiao et al., 2017). These studies suggested that Chinese individuals with severe mental illness and their families choose not to disclose or disclose only to a limited number of friends and relatives to preserve the face of the individuals and their families.

Chinese Traditional Beliefs and Stigma

Confucianism and its principles especially influence Chinese populations and people frequently experience pervasive stigma that stems from these historical and cultural influences. Confucian practices emphasize social harmony and social order above the individual. Only when societal values are met first, individual needs will be served. Members of society must fulfill their family and work roles and responsibilities in society to achieve personal harmony with others (C. H. Ng, 1997; Yang, 2007). One's inability to meet one's responsibility will bring social discord for individuals and their families. For example, society expects an individual to perform his/her duty in a family by providing material and emotional support. This tenet of society perceives a person diagnosed with mental illness, particularly schizophrenia, as dependent and unable to fulfill this role; consequently, the individual is seen as unproductive to society and therefore censured and rejected by others. In addition to stigma jeopardizing interpersonal

engagement, mental illness and its stigma also threaten *what matters most* to Chinese immigrants. For these immigrants, their core lived values and motivation include making money, supporting their family in China, continuing their family lineage, and attaining U.S. citizenship (Lai et al., 2013). Being excluded from partaking in these engagements with their acquaintances because of mental illness stigma diminishes one's sense of connectedness with the community.

In a study of Chinese Americans with severe mental illness, study participants expressed that not being able to engage in gainful employment intensified stigma and social vulnerability against them (Yang et al., 2014). In addition, their inability to work could also negatively affect other aspects of their lives such as marriages and relationships with family members (Yang et al., 2014). Some Chinese view mental illness as a result of moral transgressions against ancestors, thus the family is also held liable (C. H. Ng, 1997). Another study reported that Chinese American participants were more likely to believe that people with mental illness should not get married or have children, compared to their European American participants (Yang et al., 2013). Chinese American participants were also more likely to endorse genetic screening before marriage, and that it was critical to know their potential marriage partner's family history of mental illness (Yang et al., 2013). Mental illness is regarded as hereditary; therefore, individuals with mental illness and even their siblings may be excluded from marriage (C. H. Ng, 1997). Not being able to marry means individuals would be unable to perpetuate the family line, which causes further disgrace and guilt.

Loss of Face

Face is another element critical to functioning and socializing in the Chinese community. The idea of face is of Chinese origin (Ho, Fu, & Ng, 2004). It is described as tree bark in an old Chinese saying, implying its protective and essential role for an individual (G. Gao, 1998). Face has two major components: lian and mianzi. Lian refers to one's social conduct, acquired by an individual behaving appropriately to meet social standard or norms. Lian is respect given to someone with a good moral reputation (Hu, 1944). Furthermore, *lian* represents personal and familial dignity (Earley, 1997), viewed as a prerequisite to participating in special relationship networks known as *guanxi* (Lai et al., 2013). One gains *mianzi*, in contrast, through one's own effort and performance, and is bestowed by others in society (Huang, 2004; Hwang, 1997). One achieves mianzi through success and ostentation, accumulated through personal effort or careful planning (Hu, 1944). Individuals who are high on the social ladder are more likely to have greater mianzi than those who occupy a lower social status. Mianzi is a representation of social power that allows individuals to partake in the interpersonal world (Lewis-Fernandez & Kleinman, 1994). Face directly aligns with one's social power in the Chinese community. Having face allows individuals and their families to extend social networks, thereby increasing the family's social standing and influence in the community (Yang, 2007).

Losing face is "a condemnation by the group for immoral socially disagreeable behavior" (Hu, 1944, p. 46). Losing face is a damaging social event in which one is judged by others, and has unfavorable implications for one's social functioning (Ho et al., 2004). In addition, losing face always affects the reputation of the whole family, not only the individual who is being judged (Hu, 1944). Despite occasions when an individual

does not associate losing face with dysphoric emotions (e.g., the individual being in denial or emotionally detached), feelings of shame, embarrassment, humiliation, and guilt often relate to losing face (Ho et al., 2004; Yue, 1994). Shame often accompanies the fear of being humiliated by others due to one's failure and weakness, although the failures or weaknesses may not be under the control of the individual (Ho et al., 2004). Shame also often ties to loss of face in some Asian languages. Similarly, embarrassment is considered a loss of composure comparable to a minor loss of face (Ho et al., 2004). When individuals with mental illness are regarded as useless and crazy, they are seen as being unable to fulfill their personal responsibilities to meet the cultural norm (socially agreeable behavior), and therefore lose face (*lian*). In addition, others in society are unlikely to grant these individuals any *mianzi*, making it impossible for them to participate and engage in interpersonal relationships.

The stigma and the shame involved in mental illness causes the loss of face for the entire family, accompanied by their inability to participate in what matters most in their community, thereby losing their social power to engage in the interpersonal world among other individuals (Yang & Kleinman, 2008). As a result, these community attitudes severely marginalize individuals with mental illness and their families, viewing them as less than human. These traditional beliefs and the importance of face in participation in social relationships and engagement shape the specific meaning of stigma in the Chinese cultural group in the United States.

Studies indicate that Stigma and the desire to keep one's mental illness a secret directly aligns with the underuse of and poor adherence to mental health services (Fung et al., 2008; Shea & Yeh, 2008; Yang & Kleinman, 2008; Yang, Phelan, & Link, 2008).

This phenomenon is particularly acute among Chinese American individuals with severe mental illnesses. Given the seriousness of the issue of stigma and its harmful consequences, further compounded by cultural factors, examining stigma among Chinese immigrants with mental health issues is crucial. It is imperative for the social work profession to explore the stigma experience and its manifestation in the specific cultures and subcultures of the Chinese-immigrant population. This study, therefore, focuses on the stigma experiences of Chinese American immigrants with mental illness.

Understanding how this group copes with stigma will not only assist in the development of more culturally appropriate services and interventions but will facilitate treatment adherence and successful recovery among this understudied and hard-to-reach population.

Chapter 3

Methodology

In this chapter, I present the research questions and hypotheses of the study. In addition, I discuss the research design, recruitment procedure, measurements, and data analyses.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Questions

- RQ1 What are the characteristics of internalized stigma and experienced stigma that are reported by Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders?
- RQ2 What types of coping strategies do Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders adopt in managing the disclosure of their mental illness?
- RQ3 To what extent do Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders report the experience of loss of face?
- RQ4 What are the associations between the study participants' levels of internalized stigma and coping strategies?
- RQ5 What are the associations between coping strategies and levels of experienced stigma?
- RQ6 What are the associations between the participants' experience of loss of face and coping strategies?

Hypotheses

- Ho1 Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders will be more likely to report stigma experiences related to interpersonal relationships, especially those relating to intimate relationships.
- Ho2 Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders will adopt coping strategies that are secretive with limited disclosure regarding their mental illness.
- Ho3 Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders will report experiencing a high level of loss of face.
- Ho4 A high level of internalized stigma will be associated with higher levels of secrecy and limited disclosure about their mental illness among Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders.
- Ho5 A high level of experienced stigma will be associated with higher levels of secrecy and limited disclosure about their mental illness among Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders.
- Ho6 A high level of experience of loss of face will be associated with higher levels of secrecy and limited disclosure about their mental illness among Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders.

Research Design

This study uses data from a study on stigma and expressed emotions among

Chinese American immigrants with psychosis, funded by the National Institute of Mental

Health (Yang et al., 2014). Data accrued using a cross-sectional survey design with faceto-face semi-structured interviews to examine experiences of stigma among Chinese

American immigrants with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Interviews took place between 2006 and 2010.

Study Participants

Participants meeting the following criteria participated in the study:

- 1. Adults 18 years or older of Chinese descent
- 2. Mandarin and/or English speaking
- 3. Hospitalization within 1 month of the interview
- 4. Co-residing with a family member after hospitalization
- 5. Diagnosed with schizophrenia, schizoaffective or psychotic disorder not otherwise specified as determined by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Diagnoses (SCID, Spitzer, Williams, Gibbon, & First, 1992) or the Chinese-bilingual SCID (So et al., 2003). The Chinese-bilingual SCID was tested to be reliable and valid among Chinese individuals (So et al., 2003; Zhou, Zhang, Peng, Lie, & Zhu, 1997).

The research team recruited participants simultaneously from inpatient psychiatric units at two major NYC hospitals. A total of 56 participants participated in the study. Because of the severe stigma attached to mental illness among Chinese immigrants, this is the largest-known sample of Chinese immigrants with psychosis available to examine stigma. Hospital psychiatrists who were unaffiliated with the study determined participants' capacity to consent. The research team presented written consent in Chinese or English to participants and verbally explained a brief description of the study and its procedure. Further, the research team explained the risks and benefits associated with participating in the study and the voluntary nature of participation. In addition, the team

emphasized confidentiality by informing study participants that no identifying data would be revealed in any published results from the study.

Procedures

This study was approved by the University Committee on Activities Involving Human Subjects at New York University. Using Mandarin Chinese or English, whichever participants preferred, two bilingual interviewers who were psychologists conducted face-to-face structured and semi-structured interviews. The interviewers filled out participants' responses on the questionnaires. Study participants first responded to the survey questions by giving an ordinal ranking, and for one scale, the interviewers asked participants to explain their responses to obtain narrative data. All questionnaires and the interview guide were translated by a professional translator into Mandarin Chinese and then back translated to English to ensure accurate interpretation. The team audiotaped all interviews and transcribed them verbatim. Bilingual and bicultural graduate students studying social science translated interviews conducted in Mandarin Chinese into English. Each participant received \$80 upon completing the study and being discharged from the inpatient unit.

Presentation of Variables

Participant Demographics

Collected participant demographics included (a) gender, (b) age, (c) years of education, (d) country of birth, (e) marital status, (f) religious affiliation, (g) employment status, (h) participant income, (i) onset age of illness, (j) duration of illness, (k) number of psychiatric hospitalizations, and (l) duration of the most recent hospitalization.

Internalized Stigma

Internalized stigma means individuals with a mental illness believe and internalize negative stereotypes regarding mental illness that the general public endorses (Link et al., 2002).

Experienced Stigma

Experienced stigma is when individuals with mental illness experience negative attitudes and behaviors such as rejection and discrimination from others in society (Corrigan et al., 2010).

Coping Strategies

Individuals with a mental illness develop coping methods such as secrecy, withdrawal, and educating others to avoid or reduce the possibility of rejection (Link et al., 2002). Secrecy is defined as concealment of mental illness and treatment history from relatives, friends, and employers. Withdrawal means limiting one's social interactions to those who have similar mental health conditions and to those who would accept their mental illness. Educating others indicates providing accurate information to others to decrease negative attitudes toward individuals with a mental illness.

Loss of Face

In Chinese culture, face symbolically refers to an individual's dignity (Chen, Lai, & Yang, 2013), and represents one's ability to engage in social relationships. Therefore, when an individual loses face, the person becomes powerless to partake in local social networks (Yang, 2007). Moreover, feelings of shame and embarrassment often accompany losing face (Ho et al., 2004; Yue, 1994). The feeling of shame accompanies

the fear of being humiliated whereas embarrassment is a loss of composure, similar to a minor loss of face (Ho et al., 2004)

Measurements

Demographic Characteristics Questionnaire

The questionnaire gathered information on (a) gender, (b) age, (c) years of education, (d) country of birth, (e) marital status, (f) religious affiliation, (g) employment status (h) participant income, (i) onset age of illness, (j) duration of illness, (k) number of psychiatric hospitalizations, and (l) duration of the most recent hospitalization (see Appendix A).

Internalized Stigma

I measured internalized stigma among study participants using an adapted 9-item version of the Devaluation-Discrimination Scale (DDS, Link, 1987; see Appendix B). This is the oldest and most commonly used measure of internalized stigma among people with mental illness (Livingston & Boyd, 2010). Researchers constructed this measure to test hypotheses associated with modified labeling theory (Link et al., 2004) and to assess the extent to which respondents believe a person with mental illness would be devalued and the target of discrimination (Link et al., 2004; Livingston & Boyd, 2010). Some examples of the questions included the following: (a) Most people in your community think a person with a serious mental illness is dangerous and unpredictable, (b) Most people in your community would accept a person who once had a serious mental illness as a close friend, and (c) Most young women would not marry a man who has been treated for a serious mental disorder. The research team added one question especially pertaining to the Chinese culture—"Most people in your community think that having

mental illness would cause a person to lose face"—to measure a culturally specific construct. Items on the DDS were rated on a 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 = "strongly disagree" to 4 = "strongly agree," summed for a total score that ranged from 9 to 36. Two items on the scale were in the reverse direction; therefore, I reversed scores before adding to the rest of the items. A higher score on the DDS indicated a higher level of internalized/perceived stigma. Internal consistency reliability ranged from .82 (Link et al., 1991) to .86 (Link, Struening, Neese-Todd, Asmussen, & Phelan, 2001). The DDS has adequate construct validity (Brohan, Slade, Clement, & Thornicroft, 2010). The Chinese version of the DDS has good content validity (content validity index = .95 by an expert panel) and satisfactory internal consistencies (Cronbach's a = .70-.77 for overall scale and subscales) among Chinese psychiatric consumers (Chien et al., 2012). Cronbach's alpha for this study was .70 after removing Item Number 2: "Most people in your community feel that having a mental illness is worse than being addicted to drugs," with a total score ranging from 8 to 32.

Experience of Stigma

I used an adapted version of the Mental Health Consumers' Experience of Stigma Scale (CES-Q, Wahl, 1999; see Appendix C) to measure the experience of stigma. The adapted version has a total of 23 items that measure interpersonal experiences regarding others' negative attitudes such as being shunned or being treated as less competent due to mental illness and structural stigma experiences such as employment, education, and housing. The measure used 17 of the original CES-Q items that were most pertinent to the direct discrimination experienced by the Chinese group. Six additional questions were included as part of the CES-Q for inquiry regarding nonverbal forms of discrimination

(Yang et al., 2010), and discrimination associated with language, finance, citizenship, and health insurance barriers. Items on the original instrument are rated on a 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 = "strongly agree" to 4 = "strongly disagree." A higher score on the CES-Q indicated a higher level of experienced stigma. However, in this study, I only asked participants if they had experienced the various types of stigma with an answer of "yes" or "no." I coded an answer of "yes" as 1 and an answer of "no" as 0. The total score of this measurement ranged from 0–23 (the range became 0–13 after taking away 10 items for statistical analyses), with a higher score representing more experienced stigma. The instrument has been shown to have a positive rating of content validity; however data on reliability were not reported (Brohan et al., 2010). The original Wahl's instrument was administered in a paper-and-pencil format. However, for this study, the interviewers filled out participants' responses. Cronbach's alpha for this study was .69 after removing 10 items from the scale, with a total score ranging from 0 to 13. The 10 items were

- 1. Have you been in situations where you have heard others say unfavorable or offensive things about people who have mental illness?
- 2. Have you seen or read things in the mass media (e.g. television, movies, books) about people who have mental illnesses that you find offensive?
- 5. Have you been treated fairly by others who know that you have this condition?
- 6. Have people been supportive and understanding when they learned that you have this condition?

- 7. Have you been excluded from volunteer or social activities by others when it was known that you have this condition?
- 9. Have coworkers or supervisors at work been supportive and accommodating when they learned that you have this condition?
- 12. Have doctors or other health professionals treated you fairly and respectfully while treating you for this condition?
- 13. Have you had a spouse or romantic partner break up with you because of this condition?
- 16. Have you had the fact that you have this condition used against you in legal proceedings (such as child custody or divorce disputes)?
- 17. Have you been treated disrespectfully or unfairly by law enforcement officers when they learned that you have this condition?

Experience of Loss of Face

Modeled after a validated measure of emotions related to stigma (Link et al., 2002), we asked three questions to assess participants' feelings of loss of face (see Appendix D). We asked participants to rate from 1–7 whether they experienced loss of face, shame, and embarrassment. I added the scores of the three questions together to obtain a total score that ranged from 3–21. The higher the total score on these three items, the greater the sense of loss of face, shame, and embarrassment. Cronbach's alpha for this study was .80.

Coping Strategies

I adapted the stigma section of the Subjective Experience of Medication Interview (SEMI), a semi-structured qualitative evaluation of subjective experience of mental

illness (Jenkins et al., 2005), to measure coping strategies. For this study, I assessed coping strategies using the following questions (see Appendix E):

- 1. Regarding your most recent hospitalization, do people know that you have been hospitalized? Do people know that you have this condition?
- 2. Did you tell other people or did the person find out by accident?
- 3. Do you feel that you are better off not telling people about this and why?
 —Follow up question: "Are there certain people who you might tell and certain people who you might not tell?"
- 4. If other people know, how do you think that they will view this or act towards you?
- 5. Does anybody act differently towards you because of your condition, or because you take medication?

Narrative responses to the questions were coded to create a quantitative measure of coping strategies (Greene, 2007), and they were also used to illuminate study participants' coping styles.

Data Analysis

I used the SPSS 22 statistical package to analyze quantitative data. A power analysis, using the G*Power 3.1 statistical power analysis program (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007), determined the effect size to avoid type II errors in the study. Based on 56 participants with power set at 0.80 and with alpha set at .05, an effect size (f^2) of .26 emerged, indicating a medium effect size (Cohen, 1988). Other studies in Chinese groups indicated a similar medium effect size of stigma on related outcomes (Fung, Tsang, & Cheung, 2011; Yang & Singla, 2011), indicating adequate power for the study.

This study included use of descriptive statistics, correlation analysis, and regression.

Descriptive statistics summarized participants' characteristics and examined the extent of internalized stigma, experienced stigma, and loss of face experienced by participants.

For the qualitative data obtained from the SEMI, I created two scales to measure secrecy coping and disclosure and used thematic analysis to further illuminate findings on coping styles through the creation of codes and themes. Researchers have used content analysis and thematic analysis to transform qualitative data into quantitative data or to organize qualitative data in meaning ways (Rubin & Babbie, 2008; Vaismoradi, Jones, Turunen, & Snelgrove, 2016). Working with a bilingual-bicultural graduate psychology student, I coded English transcripts of the interviews (see Appendix F). We primarily used the English transcripts for coding; however, we referred to the Chinese transcripts when we needed clarification of the texts. We met weekly for more than 2 months to conduct content analysis (open coding). I read through the first 10 transcripts and identified main codes. For example, "not a bright thing" and "a shameful thing" were coded as "loss of face," and "it's normal to take medicine" was coded as "normalization." We then analyzed the remaining transcripts by applying the codes from the first 10 interviews. We also noted other emerging codes such as "ambivalent" in the rest of the transcripts, and revised our initial codes accordingly. We then sorted the codes into different categories such as "coping strategies," and "reasons for secrecy."

To create the scale, we assigned a numerical value to each participant's secrecy coping and level of disclosure. When discrepancies arose in our ratings, we discussed our rationales and came up with a compromise. The process of transforming qualitative data into quantitative data is called quantitizing (Sandelowski, Voils, & Knafl, 2009). To

enhance the credibility of the analysis, we first used peer debriefing to keep our assumptions in check. The graduate student and I discussed our coding weekly and asked each other questions to ensure the analyses had minimal biases. In addition, we kept a written record of our coding process, and our discussions of points of disagreement. We used Cohen's k to determine agreement between the two raters in the level of secrecy and disclosure. We had substantial agreement on the secrecy scale (k = .811, p < .000) and the disclosure scale (k = .766, p < .000).

Herman (1993) described observations of how people with mental illness managed mental illness stigma by strategizing who and when to disclose their illness. The construction of the secrecy and disclosure scales builds on Herman's framework. The secrecy scale focuses on the selective-concealment element of the model to explore with whom mental health consumers are willing to share information about their mental illness. In contrast, the disclosure scale concentrates on the kinds of information consumers are willing to disclose.

We used the following criteria to construct the rating scale for participants' secrecy coping:

- No secrecy: The participant actively shared his/her mental illness with everyone he or she knew.
- 2. Minimal secrecy: The participant did not mind others in his or her social network (including family members, friends, and acquaintances) knowing about his or her illness; however, he or she may not have actively shared the illness with them. This category also included participants who had the intention to share with others, though may not have done so.

- 3. **Some secrecy:** The participant **shared with some** family members and one or more friends regarding his/her mental illness. This also included participants who had the **intention to share** with close friends and significant others, though may not have done so.
- 4. **Substantial secrecy:** Due to the fear of loss of face or feeling shameful, the participant only shared his or her illness with a **very small number of family members**. However, family members may have shared the illness with others despite the participant's preference.
- 5. **Total secrecy:** With extreme fear of loss of face, the participant **did not share** the illness with anyone.

Once we quantified the data, participants received a score of 1 to 5, representing the range of no secrecy to total secrecy in their disclosing preference. For example, a participant who shared his or her illness history with everyone he or she met was considered to have no secrecy (coded as 1). Those participants who shared their illness with only a select number of people, such as friends who also suffered from mental illness or treatment providers, were considered as keeping their illness a medium level of secrecy (coded as 3). To be regarded as highly secretive, participants did not share their illness or treatment history with anyone; not even their spouses or significant others.

For the study participants' disclosure preferences, we constructed the following 5-point scale:

 No Disclosure or Denial: Participants denied having any illness and did not share knowledge of their illness with others.

- Deception or Coaching: Participants told distant relatives, friends, or
 acquaintances they had an illness such as headache or depression without
 mentioning psychosis; however, they told family members about the mental
 illness.
- 3. Therapeutic disclosure: Participants shared some basic and accurate information about their mental illness and treatment when asked by some trusted, others including family members, relatives, and a limited number of friends or acquaintances such as other church members or mental health consumers.
- 4. **Education:** Participants were willing to **actively educate** others by providing additional information regarding their mental illness and treatment.
- 5. Advocacy or Political Activism: Participants advocated for people with mental illness such as supporting people with mental illness publicly through demonstrations, rallies, or attending conferences and promoting social change.

Each study participant received a score of 1 to 5, representing the degree of their mental illness disclosure. Once we quantified the coping-strategies data, I analyzed the associations between coping strategies and internalized stigma, experienced stigma, and loss of face using Pearson's correlation and linear regression. Codes and narrative statements further illuminated participants' coping strategies.

Chapter 4

Results

This chapter presents the findings of the stigma experience and coping among Chinese American immigrants with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. First, I present an overview of the data, including a description of participants' demographics, as well as the mean, medium, and range of scores for the five scales: Link's DDS, Wahl's CES-Q, Experience of Loss of Face, and Coping Strategies (secrecy and disclosure). Then, I discuss the results aligned with each of the research questions and hypotheses.

Description of the Sample

A total of 56 Chinese immigrants residing in the United States participated in the study. Overall, the average age of the participants was 34.3 (SD = 11.0), and they had 9.9 (SD = 3.0) years of education. Participants had lived in the United States for an average of 12.6 (SD = 11.9) years.

Table 2 shows the frequency distributions of participants' gender, place of birth, legal status in the United States, diagnosis, court-ordered treatment, religion, and employment information. Among study participants, 36 (64.3%) were men and 44 (78.6%) were unmarried, defined by the categories of never married, separated, or divorced. Most participants (41, 73.2%) were born in mainland China. Forty-six (82.1%) participants used Mandarin Chinese during the interview and 10 spoke English or a combination of the two languages. In legal status, almost half (26, 46.4%) were resident aliens.

Table 2

Frequency Distributions of Participants' Demographic Characteristics

Variable		n	%
Gender	Male	36	64.3
	Female	20	35.7
Place of birth	Mainland China	41	73.2
	Hong Kong or Macau	6	10.7
	Taiwan	1	1.8
	Other Asian Countries	3	5.4
	United States	5	8.9
Language	Mandarin	46	82.1
8 8	English	9	16.1
	Combination	1	1.8
Legal status	U.S. citizen	15	26.8
Debai suitus	Resident alien (green card)	26	46.4
	Legal visa holder (student, work etc.)	1	1.8
	Pending court case	2	3.6
	Undocumented	11	19.6
	Awaiting green card	1	1.8
Diagnosis	Schizophrenia	32	57.1
Diagnosis	Schizoaffective disorder	12	21.5
	Bipolar disorder with psychotic features	12	1.8
		1	1.8
	Depressive disorder with psychotic features	6	10.7
	Psychotic disorder not otherwise specified Unknown	4	7.1
C4 1 1 4 44		•	
Court-ordered treatment		41	73.2
	Assisted outpatient treatment	4	7.1
	Assertive community treatment (ACT)	2	3.6
	Transfer to long-term care	1	1.8
	(State inpatient unit)	0	1.4.2
	Unknown	8	14.3
Religion	Buddhism	15	26.8
	Catholicism	3	5.4
	Christianity (other than Catholicism)	14	25.0
	Traditional folk belief	2	3.6
	None	17	30.4
	Other	2	3.6
	Unknown	3	5.4
Employment	Unemployed	38	67.9
	Full time	15	26.8
	Part time	3	5.4
Field of employment	Service (restaurants, housekeeping)	32	57.1
	Factory	7	12.5
	Construction	1	1.8
	Student (full-time)	5	8.9
	Sheltered workshop	1	1.8
	Professional (white collar)	6	10.7
	Never worked	4	7.1
Income (annual)	No income	19	33.9
, ,	> \$5000	13	23.2
	\$5000-\$11,999	11	19.6
	< \$12,000	13	23.2

A total of 32 (57.1%) participants were diagnosed with schizophrenia, 12 (21.5%) with a schizoaffective disorder, and eight (14.3%) with other disorders (e.g., bipolar disorder with psychotic features, major depressive disorder with psychotic features, and psychosis not otherwise specified). Participants had an average duration of 8.5 (SD = 8.3) years of mental illness, and a total of 4.9 (SD = 3.7) hospitalizations. Duration of mental illness was determined by year of first psychiatric hospitalization until the present time. The majority of the participants (73.2%) did not have any court-mandated treatment

Furthermore, 17 (30.4%) of the 53 participants (three were missing data) had no religious affiliation, whereas the rest reported having a religious belief such as Buddhism, Christianity, or traditional folk belief. The questionnaire divided Catholicism and Christianity because for many Chinese people, Catholicism usually indicates the Roman Catholic Church, of which the Pope is the head. In contrast, Christianity usually refers to evangelical Christianity. In employment, 38 (67.9%) participants were unemployed at the time of the interview, with the majority (57.1%) of those employed having worked in a service-sector job such as restaurant and housekeeping. Among participants, a third (33.9%) reported no income. On average, households comprised 3.5 people.

Overall, the majority of study participants were mostly first-generation Mandarin-speaking immigrants from China. On average, they had less than a high school education and more than half were unemployed. Those who worked had low-income jobs and the majority lived under the poverty line. Participants duration of mental illness and number of hospitalizations reflect severity and chronicity. All participants lived with family members.

Descriptive Findings of the Major Variables

Table 3 illustrates the mean, standard deviation, and range of scores of the scale, used to examine internalized stigma, experienced stigma, experience of loss of face, and coping strategies.

Table 3
Statistics on the Five Scales

Variables/Scales	Mean	Std. deviation	Range of scores
Internalized Stigma Link's Devaluation Discrimination Scale	21.59	2.81	8–32
Experienced Stigma Wahl's Mental Health Consumers' Experience of Stigma Scale	2.77	2.31	0–13
Experience of loss of face	8.15	4.43	3–21
Coping Strategy—Secrecy		0.69	1–5
Coping strategy—Disclosure	2.56	0.50	1–5

Characteristics of Participants' Experiences of Stigma

Internalized Stigma

The mean of Link's DDS was 21.59 (SD = 2.81). Among the nine items, Item 8, "Most young women would not marry a man who has been treated for a serious mental disorder," had the highest mean (M = 3.00, SD = .64) with 73% of participants endorsing it; this was followed by Item 9, "Having a mental illness would cause a person to lose face" (M = 2.77, SD = .64), with 60% of participants having endorsed it. Item 6, "Most people think less of a person who has been a patient in a mental hospital," had an average score of 2.76 (SD = .44) with 63% of participants agreeing to it, whereas the first item, "Most people in your community think that a person with a serious mental illness is

dangerous and unpredictable," had an average of 2.76 (SD = .56) with 60% of participants having endorsed it. Table 4 presents the item statistics on the DDS.

Table 4

Statistics on the Devaluation—Discrimination Scale

Link's Devaluation–Discrimination Scale (DDS)	Mean	Std. deviation	% of endorsement
1) Most people in your community feel that a person with a serious mental illness is dangerous and unpredictable.		0.56	58.90
3) Most people in your community would accept a person who once had a serious mental illness as a close friend. (Reverse item)		0.59	44.70
4) Most people in your community look down on someone who once was a patient in a mental hospital.	2.71	0.64	57.10
5) Most employers will hire a person who once had a serious mental illness if he or she is qualified for the job. (Reverse item)		0.69	39.30
6) Most people in your community think less of a person who has been a patient in a mental hospital.		0.44	62.50
7) Most people in your community feel that entering psychiatric treatment is a sign of disgrace.		0.71	51.70
8) Most young women would not marry a man who has been treated for a serious mental disorder.		0.64	73.30
9) Most people in your community think that having a mental illness would cause a person to lose face.	2.77	0.64	58.90

Experienced Stigma

Of participants, 24 reported they most frequently experienced being shunned or avoided (Item 4) and being disdained by family members (Item 11), once they revealed their mental health condition. In addition, 21 participants experienced being treated as less competent (Item 3) by others, whereas 20 experienced having more difficulty in finding a romantic partner because of their mental illness (Item 14). Table 5 shows the most frequently reported stigma-experience items.

Table 5
Frequency of the Most Experienced Stigma

	Experienced of stigma	Frequency	%
4	Being shunned or avoided	24	42.9
11	Being looked down on by family members	24	42.9
3	Being treated as less competent	21	37.5
14	Having more difficulty finding romantic partner	20	35.7
114	A Family members tell participants not to tell others about his/her condition	15	26.8
18	People "give off" a sense of stigmatization even if something is not explicitly said	15	26.8

Overall, study participants reported low incidence of experienced stigma. However, close to half reported being disdained by family members and over one third reported difficulty in finding a romantic partner. Furthermore, study participants reported the highest level of internalized stigma on Items 8 and 9 on the internalized-stigma scale related to marriage and loss of face. Thus, the first hypothesis that Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders would be more likely to report stigma in their interpersonal relationships, especially those relating to intimate relationships, was supported.

Types of Coping Strategies Adopted by Participants

Secrecy. I constructed the secrecy scale by coding qualitative data obtained from semi-structured interviews as part of the adapted SEMI questionnaire. The secrecy scale focused on people with whom participants were willing to share their mental health status. For negative coping strategy, no participants reported having no secrecy (a score of 1). All participants fell into three categories: minimal secrecy (eight participants, 14%), some secrecy (26 participants, 46%), followed by substantial secrecy (18 participants, 32%). See Table 6 for a detailed illustration.

Table 6

Frequency of the Secrecy Scale

	Frequency	%
No secrecy	0	0
Minimal secrecy	8	14.3
Some secrecy	26	46.4
Substantial secrecy	18	32.1
Total secrecy	0	0
Missing	4	7.1
Total	56	100.0

When conducting content analysis of the coping strategies data, valuable qualitative information emerged. To illuminate the coping methods used by study participants, I present comprehensive qualitative information below. A majority of study participants, mostly those in the *some secrecy* and *substantial secrecy* groups, were only willing to disclose their illness to a few family members and close friends. Many chose to share the information with those they felt could empathize with and support them, such as fellow individuals who shared the same mental illness status. Three main reasons emerged for why participants decided to keep their mental health status a secret.

Reasons for secrecy.

Fear of rejection and discrimination. Some participants shared their fears and experiences with rejection and discrimination. One 30-year-old single participant diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder stated, "The illness affects my whole life. If my sister doesn't tell anyone, it would be better for me." Another 22-year-old female participant, originally from China, echoed the same sentiment, expressing that she is

better off not telling others about her mental illness because "it might affect my future" and others "would look down on me."

Although these participants expressed frustration that, from their perspective, mental illness will affect their future, one 28-year-old male from China was upset about the possibility of not being able to get married. He said he used to have many girlfriends, but his neighbors told girls not to date him after they realized he had a mental illness. He said, "[The neighbors] said to those women there, 'How would you be with a person with mental illness? He is mentally ill, he is this and that." This mental health consumer lamented that the news about his mental illness from "one spreads to one hundred" and "I will not find a wife for the rest of my life."

Other participants also worried about family and friends avoiding them and treating them differently. A 19-year-old single female participant with schizophrenia disorder reported having experienced discrimination. She said the people in the restaurant "refused to "sell me things because they knew [about my mental illness] and would tell me to go away" because they "fear contagiousness" of her illness. Similarly, an 18-year-old full-time student diagnosed with psychosis not otherwise specified reported he had not told anyone about his mental illness, but then news about his illness spread. The participant said his friends would distance themselves from him, laugh at him, and discriminate against him when they learned of his illness. Another 27-year-old single male expressed having encountered stigma in this family.

One of my family members found out that I had this, this condition, they, they start to look at you funny ... they don't look at me the same anymore. They look at me like there might be something wrong with me. ... you're thinking, "Hey is this guy going to do something crazy?" [laughter] you know what I mean? ... they look at you like you might be dangerous ... they pay more attention to you,

looking at you, like maybe see if you are acting in a threatening manner. Anyway, they pay more attention to that.

Loss of face. Many study participants felt they were better off not telling others about their psychiatric illness because of their belief that having a mental illness makes them less of a person, and that others will also see them as inferior, causing them to lose face. One 42-year-old female participant who had been ill for 22 years stated that her mother told other relatives about her mental illness and she felt "I have no face to be a person." In addition, she believed her sister stopped interacting with her after she was diagnosed with her psychiatric illness and her sister "looked down on me." She believed she would be better off not telling others about her illness because "I still have to have face." Likewise, a 28-year-old male diagnosed with schizophrenia expressed feeling ashamed to meet with people who know of his illness. He also stated that he did not want others to know of his psychiatric illness because he did not "want to affect [others'] impression of me in their minds."

Losing face is not only a concern for the individual who has the illness; it is equally important to preserve the family's face. The 19-year-old female participant mentioned earlier also reported fear of losing face. She expressed, "I am not normal" and feels "shameful and dirty." Her family has told her not to tell others about her mental illness "[so we] will not lose face." Two other participants also reported their families refused to disclose their mental illness to other people. One said, "My family prevents [the mental illness] from letting others know," while another said, "I hate other people knowing. ... My mom and I definitely could not tell anybody else."

Unnecessary to disclose (i.e., prioritize receiving treatment and recovery). Many participants did not want others to know about their mental illness, especially those

outside of the family, because they believed it was better to focus on seeking treatment and recovery. According to the 18-year-old participant previously mentioned, he preferred not to share his mental health status with others because he would rather focus on getting better. He said, "I receive treatment. ... I am young and I am willing to seek treatment; it's likely I will recover." He also believed "if I receive treatment, others will think better of me." Likewise, a 28-year-old single male who had been hospitalized six times in the past 5 years said, "most important thing is that the doctor could find adequate remedy for the disease." Furthermore, he believed that getting a mental illness is normal among his peers because of the huge pressure many immigrants like him face daily.

Many study participants focused on becoming "normal" and being able to work.

A 33-year-old married male participant opined, "I am still young and I have hands and feet, I can work in any field, no problem." Similarly, another 35-year-old divorced man with schizophrenia believed in the importance of getting treatment and returning to work.

It's not necessary to tell others or not to tell others. The most important thing is that one has to get one's illness treated well. My thought is that I'm already well now. Just to say that I can do other things. Nothing more to it, nothing.

Disclosure. I constructed a disclosure scale to measure participants' disclosure preference. The scale focuses on what participants are willing to share about their mental health status. None of the participants reported having no disclosure (score of 1), education (score of 4), or advocacy or political activism (score of 5). Over half of the study participants (29, 52%) used some kind of therapeutic disclosure in sharing their mental health status to selected groups of people such as family, close friends, church friends, and bosses whereas 23 (41%) used deception or coaching when disclosing their mental illness. See Table 7 for the scale's frequencies.

Table 7

Frequency of the Disclosure Scale

	Frequency	%
No disclosure	0	0
Deception or coaching	23	41.1
Therapeutic disclosure	29	51.8
Education	0	0
Advocacy or political activism	0	0
Missing	4	7.1
Total	56	100.0

Additional qualitative data further enriched understanding of participants' disclosure pattern: reason for disclosure, strategies for disclosure, and involuntary disclosure.

Reasons for disclosure. The results suggested three main reasons participants were willing to disclose their illness.

Social support. Participants expressed that others showed greater empathy and understanding after learning about their illness. A 31-year-old single man with a history of three psychiatric hospitalizations stated, "You should talk to your friends (when you encounter difficulties) ... because it is too severe, can lighten my mood [by sharing with others about my mental illness]." He also said that friends would call and console him. At the same time, another 26-year-old male diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder was not afraid to share his illness with others, and expressed that "true friends will remain loyal."

Since that I got this illness, it is the fact, right? ... I am not afraid that the others know about it. ... I am not afraid that they will know about my situation. If they know it, they know it ... friends are about friendship, they won't look down on me.

Moreover, some participants found it useful to share with fellow mental health consumers because they "have connections" and understand each others' struggles and needs.

In addition to receiving emotional support from others who know about the participant's mental illness, some reported getting instrumental help. A 34-year-old married man with schizophrenia said others had greater sympathy if they knew of his mental illness, and they encouraged him to take medication. Another 29-year-old woman who had been diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder for 4 years said her friends had helped her receive psychiatric treatment including hospitalization when she needed it. Likewise, another male participant said his friends loaned him money after learning about his hospitalization to help him pay off his smuggling debts.

Honesty. In addition to receiving support from disclosing mental illness, some reported they disclosed their mental illness to close friends or intimate others to be genuine and to build a trusting relationship. A 29-year-old woman believed it was good to share something private with others and become friends, even though she felt vulnerable about being honest.

I guess there's like a weird, conflicting feeling. Sometimes I do want people to know but there's also the flip side ... that's a little bit scary. But I feel if I need to cross the barrier, then I have to let them know ... It's like, somebody reading a diary, they know everything about you ... but sometimes it feels good to have people know, so that's the flip side of that ... So if I could share something with them, then they are my friend.

Some participants maintained they would tell their intimate others about their mental illness if they were to get involved in a romantic relationship. A 26-year-old single woman with schizophrenia said, "I told [previous boyfriends] directly [about my mental illness] so that they could choose whether to stay with me or leave." She believed it was important to be honest if they were to get serious in the relationship. Another 30-year-old single man also said, "I would have to, I don't know when I would have that discussion, but definitely prior to having a relationship with a female I guess I would

have to have some kind of discussion [about his mental illness]." In contrast, despite the desire to be honest and truthful with friends, some others said they would still prefer to maintain a certain level of privacy by "tell[ing] them a little about mental illness, not too much, still keep my private life."

Acceptance of their illness. Participants stated that having a mental illness was a normal part of life, like having a physical illness, and they had no need to hide it. As one participant stated, "It's ok if they don't want to be friends, I have this illness, illness exists." At the same time, another 21-year-old, single, male participant wanted to focus on recovery and future achievement. He said, "I don't think there is anything to be laughed at. If I am cured, then there's nothing wrong. It's not something incurable." In contrast, a single man who had been ill for 5 years stated that he wanted to hide his psychiatric illness at first, but after the third hospitalization, he felt that it was "impossible to hide."

Strategies for disclosure. In addition to the reasons participants were willing to disclose their mental illness, many also discussed the various strategies they used for such disclosure.

Humor. Although some participants were willing to discuss basic facts about their mental illness, some preferred to share it jokingly, to add levity to their situation. A 21-year-old single man who was having his first psychiatric hospitalization said he was willing to tell some people about his mental illness, but to some others he would tell about it as a joke: "When they asked me what a mental disease was, I answered that I have something wrong in my head and mind ... I would tell them also, but in a way like

jokes." Another 30-year-old male participant also said, "I would joke about mental illness; hospitalization is not a big deal."

Concealment. To not reveal their mental health status, some study participants concealed it by giving other reasons for their behaviors and absence from their community. For example, one participant with schizophrenia who suffered from medication side effects including fatigue and sleepiness said he would tell his coworkers he did not sleep well because he worried that he would be fired from his job if his boss discovered he had a mental illness and was taking medication. Another female participant would tell others that she had gone to study elsewhere if asked about her absence from home and her community. Furthermore, a participant said, "but finally I have to face it. I just change the way to tell [people] ... just say [I had a] headache.

Involuntary disclosure. However, participants experienced some situations in which they did not choose to disclose their mental health status, but it was revealed by others. It was not uncommon for family members to share participants' mental illness with other relatives or those in their *guanxi*. Family shared some of these situations to receive assistance or support from their support network. For example, the wife of a 57-year-old participant needed help to get to the prison where the participant was staying at the time. In another instance, a girlfriend of another study participant told more than 100 church friends about his condition, and although the participant states he would have told the friends on his own, he thought his girlfriend should have gotten his consent before sharing the news. In addition, several occasions arose of "gossiping," when information was spread from person-to-person in the same village. As one participant put it, "one spread to ten, then ten spread to a hundred." In other incidents, participants' illness was

revealed through a very public episode. For example, a 57-year-old male participant was reported in the newspaper for grabbing a knife, whereas another 59-year-old female participant with schizophrenia was in the newspaper for jumping out of a window.

Another 44-year-old participant with schizophrenia felt that people in her church should have known about her illness because she was yelling in church during one of her relapse episodes.

The second hypothesis, that Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders would tend to adopt coping strategies such as secrecy and withdrawal, was supported. According to findings from the quantitative and qualitative data, most participants were inclined to keep their mental illness to a certain level of secrecy.

Although some were willing to disclose their mental illness to others, they restricted such disclosure mostly to family and close friends. Findings supported the second hypothesis.

Experience of loss of face. On average, participants had a mean of 8.15 (SD = 4.43) on the Experience of Loss of Face scale. When considering individual items, feeling shame was highest (M = 2.92, SD = 1.88), followed by experiencing loss of face (M = 2.65, SD = 1.85), and embarrassment (M = 2.58, SD = 1.49). The third hypothesis, that Chinese Americans with schizophrenia spectrum disorders would report experiencing a high level of loss of face, was not supported. The overall score on the loss-of-face scale was below average and more than one third of study participants did not feel loss of face.

Association Between Participants' Internalized Stigma and Coping Strategies

I ran a Pearson correlation to determine the relationship between participants' levels of internalized stigma and level of secrecy; however, no association emerged (r =

-.06, p = .66). I also ran a Pearson correlation to determine the relationship between participants' levels of internalized stigma and level of disclosure. No correlation emerged (r = -.01, p = .97). As an exploratory analysis, I conducted an item-by-item analysis and no association emerged between coping strategies and each individual item on Link's DDS, determined by Pearson correlations.

The fourth hypothesis, which assumed that a high level of internalized stigma would be associated with higher secrecy level and limited disclosure, was not confirmed. No significant findings emerged on the association between the participants' internalized stigma and coping strategies.

Association Between the Participants' Experienced Stigma and Coping Strategies

A Pearson correlation showed that level of secrecy and experienced stigma did not significantly correlate (r = .05, p = .72). Furthermore, participants' level of disclosure did not significantly correlated with their experienced stigma (r = .02, p = .89). In a set of exploratory analyses to determine if participants' secrecy level and disclosure level was associated with the individual items on Wahl's CES-Q, I ran point-biserial correlation and phi coefficient, respectively. However, no significant correlation emerged among one's secrecy level, disclosure level, and individual items on the Experienced Stigma Scale. Because no significant correlation emerged between participants' secrecy level and level of experienced stigma, Hypothesis 5, which states that higher secrecy coping would be associated with a low level of experienced stigma, was not confirmed.

Experience of Loss of Face and its Association With Coping Strategies

Using Pearson correlations, no significant correlation emerged between one's secrecy level and the Experience of Loss of Face scale (r = .25, p = .08); however, a

positive trend can be observed between the two variables. In addition, participants' level of secrecy significantly correlated with their feelings of shame (r = .27, p = .05) but not with feelings of embarrassment (r = .23, p = .11) or the single item loss of face (r = .14, p = .33).

In contrast, no significant correlation emerged between the participants' disclosure level and experience of loss of face (r = -.13, p = .37). Furthermore, no significant correlation arose between the participants' level of disclosure and the individual items on the Experience of Loss of Face scale.

A significant correlation did emerge between one's secrecy level and the feeling of shame, and a trend toward significant correlation arose between one's secrecy level and the Experience of Loss of Face scale. However, Hypothesis 6, which states that a high level of loss of face would be significantly associated with higher levels of secrecy and limited disclosure, was not confirmed.

Bivariate Correlations Among the Key Variables

Bivariate correlations showed a significant association between one's internalized stigma and experience of loss of face (r = .29, p = .04). In addition, one's experienced stigma was also significantly associated with experience of loss of face (r = .46, p = .00). One's secrecy level was also significantly associated with disclosure (r = -.72, p = .000). However, no other significant association arose among the key variables. See Table 8 for correlations among the variables.

I also conducted bivariate correlations among the key variables stratified by participants' employment status and religious affiliations and found several significant correlations. For the unemployed participants, experienced stigma (r = .54, p = .001) and

secrecy (r = .40, p = .02) were significantly correlated with loss of face. There was also a significant correlation between secrecy and disclosure (r = -.78, p = .000). For participants who had employment, only secrecy was found to be significantly correlated to disclosure (r = -.57, p = .02). Bivariate correlation analysis revealed that internalized stigma was significantly associated with loss of face (r = .53, p = .001) among participants who followed an Eastern religion. On the other hand, experienced stigma was significantly associated with loss of face among participants who endorsed a non-Eastern religion (r = .64, p = .01). Secrecy and disclosure were significantly correlated with each other for all participants (r = -.65, p = .000 (Eastern religion; r = -.72, p = .001, non-Eastern religion). See Appendices G and H for tables.

Table 8

Bivariate Correlations Among Key Variables

		Internalized	Experienced			
		stigma	stigma	Loss of face	Secrecy	Disclosure
Internalized stigm	a Pearson correlation	1	.21	.29*	06	01
	Sig. (two-tailed)		.13	.04	.66	.97
	N	52	52	52	51	51
Experienced stigm	naPearson correlation	.21	1	.46**	.05	.02
	Sig. (two-tailed)	.13		.00	.72	.89
	N	52	56	52	52	52
Loss of face	Pearson correlation	.29*	.46**	1	.25	13
	Sig. (two-tailed)	.04	.00		.08	.37
	N	52	52	52	51	51
Secrecy	Pearson correlation	06	.05	.25	1	72**
•	Sig. (two-tailed)	.66	.72	.08		.00
	N	51	52	51	52	52
Disclosure	Pearson correlation	01	.02	13	72**	1
	Sig. (two-tailed)	.97	.89	.37	.00	
	N	51	52	51	52	52

^{*}Correlation is significant at the .05 level (two-tailed), **Correlation is significant at the .01 level (two-tailed).

Associations Between Sociodemographic Correlations and Key Variables Internalized Stigma

T-test and one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) determined the mean differences on participants' level of internalized stigma, based on their sociodemographics. When comparing employed against unemployed participants, an ANOVA showed a significant difference in the mean, F(2,49) = 3.48, p = .04, on the DDS between the unemployed (M = 20.88, SD = 2.40) and full-time employed participants (M = 23.03, SD = 3.26); however, no significant difference emerged between part-time employed and unemployed/full-time employed participants. Also, a significant difference, F(2,49) = 3.74, p = .03, emerged between participants who received 7–12 years of education, with a mean of 21.18, and those who received 13 and more years of education, with a mean of 24.60. An ANOVA also revealed a significant group difference among participants' diagnosis, F(3,44) = 3.40, p = .01. Participants who were diagnosed with a schizoaffective disorder had a higher internalized stigma score (M = 23.13, SD = 2.93) than those with a psychosis disorder not otherwise specified (M = 19.58, SD = 1.74).

Experienced Stigma

No significant difference emerged on participants' experienced stigma level in relationship to their sociodemographic data.

Secrecy Level

T-tests determined the mean differences in participants' secrecy level in relation to sociodemographic variables. The tests revealed a significant difference in the mean secrecy score between married and unmarried participants, t(50) = -2.54, p = .01).

Married participants had a statistically significant higher secrecy score then unmarried participants. Unmarried participants had a mean of 3.07 (SD = .65), whereas married participants had a mean of 3.63 (SD = .67). Additionally, participants who reported having a traditional Eastern religious affiliation (i.e., Buddhism and traditional folk belief; M = 3.47, SD = .62) had a statistically significant higher secrecy score than those who did not (i.e., Catholicism and Christianity; M = 3.03, SD = .67), t(49) = -2.26, p = .03). Moreover, participants who received any form of mandated treatment had a statistically significant lower secrecy score (M = 2.71, SD = .76) compared to those who did not receive mandated treatment (M = 3.27, SD = .65, t(42) = 2.02, p = .05).

Disclosure Level

Participants' level of disclosure was distributed between only two levels, so the variable was dichotomized for the data analysis. A t-test indicated a significant difference in the average disclosure score between married and unmarried participants, t(18.33) = 3.33, p = .004). The average disclosure score for married participants was 2.66 (SD = .48), whereas unmarried participants had an average of 2.18 (SD = .40). Also, a statistically significant difference emerged in disclosure level between participants who reported having a traditional Eastern religious affiliation compared with those without an Eastern religious affiliation, determined by t-test, t(49) = 2.98, p = .004). Participants who had a non-Eastern religious affiliation had a statistically significant higher disclosure score (2.71, SD = .46) than those who had an Eastern religious affiliation (2.29, SD = .47).

Experience of Loss of Face

No significant difference emerged in participants' experience of loss of face in relationship to their sociodemographic data.

Regression Analysis of Coping Strategies (Secrecy and Disclosure)

I ran a linear regression even though no correlations emerged between the predictors (internalized stigma, experienced stigma, and experience of loss of face) and the outcome variables (secrecy level and disclosure level). Results showed that participants' internalized stigma, experienced stigma, and experience of loss of face were not significant predictors of their secrecy level as a whole, F(3,47) = 1.69, p = .25, with a R^2 of .09; however, experience of loss of face was a significant predictor of secrecy level, as shown in Table 9.

Table 9
Secrecy Level Regressed on Internalized Stigma, Experienced Stigma and Loss of Face

	Unstandardized coefficients			
	В	Standard error	t	Sig.
Constant	3.68	.76	4.87	.00
Internalized stigma (DDS)	04	.04	-1.10	.28
Experienced stigma	04	.05	76	.45
Experience of loss of face	.06	.03	2.19	.03

 $R^2 = .09$, p = .25, Significant at the p < .05 level.

The regression results also showed that participants' internalized stigma, experienced stigma, and experience of loss of face were not significant predictors of their degree of disclosure, F(3,47) = .52, p = .77, with a R^2 of .03. Table 10 shows the results. Table 10

Degree of Disclosure Regressed on Internalized Stigma, Experienced Stigma and Loss of Face

	Unstandardized coefficients			
	В	Standard error	t	Sig.
Constant	2.52	.57	4.41	.00
Internalized stigma (DDS)	.01	.03	.26	.80
Experienced stigma	.02	.04	.83	.41
Experience of loss of face	02	.02	-1.21	.23

 $R^2 = .03$, p = .77, Significant at the p < .05 level.

Post Hoc Analysis

I examined employment and religion in the post hoc analysis because they play important roles in a person's well-being. Employment is an essential component in the recovery process for individuals with a mental illness. Not only does employment bring financial independence, it also helps construct one's social identity (Saavedra, López, González, Arias, & Crawford, 2016). Researchers indicated a positive association between a mentally ill individual's employment status and level of internalized stigma (Chee, Ng, & Kua, 2005). Work is also a central element for many Asian cultures, including the Chinese. In addition, religion is a protective factor that promotes health. Researchers found a positive relationship between one's religious involvement and mental health (Dein, 2010; Koenig, 2009; Lake, 2012). Religious involvement often associated with greater purpose of life, increased hope, more optimism, and improved self-esteem (Koenig, 2015). Because the elements of employment and religion are important aspects of life for people with a mental illness, it would be critical to consider them when examining a person's stigma experience.

I conducted bivariate correlation between participants' employment status and religious affiliation. I coded employment status into three categories: 0 as unemployed, 1 as part-time employed, and 2 as full-time employed. I recoded religion into a dummy variable where 1 represents Eastern religion and 0 represents non-Eastern religion. Result showed that participants' employment status and religious affiliation was not significantly correlated, r = -.08, p = .57.

Regression Models using Employment and Religion as Predictors

I also conducted linear regression analyses to examine the relationships between participants' employment status, religion affiliation, and level of internalized stigma, coping strategies, experienced stigma, and experienced loss of face. I regressed study participants' internalized stigma, measured by Link's DDS, with gender, employment, and religion. In addition to coding employment and religion as stated above, I entered gender as a dichotomous variable with 1 representing male and 2, female. A significant regression equation emerged, F(3,47) = 4.88, p = .01, with an R^2 of .49. Participants' employment status was a significant predictor of internalized stigma. The regression results appear in Table 11.

Table 11

Regression Results for Internalized Stigma

	Unstandard	ized coefficients		
	В	Standard error	t	Sig.
Constant	19.03	1.15	16.50	.00
Gender	1.61	.75	2.13	.04
Employment	1.05	.40	2.62	.01
Religion	92	.77	-1.20	.24

 $R^2 = .29, p = .00$, Significant at the p < .01 level.

Table 12 shows a significant linear regression predicting participants' secrecy level based on their gender, employment, and religion, F(3,47) = 3.25, p = .03, with an R^2 of .172.

Table 12

Regression Results for Secrecy Level

	Unstandard	ized coefficients		
	В	Standard error	t	Sig.
Constant	2.46	.29	8.39	.00
Gender	.37	.19	1.96	.05
Employment	.08	.10	.77	.45
Religion	.50	.19	2.56	.01

 $R^2 = .17$, p = .03, Significant at the p < .05 level.

I conducted a linear regression to predict participants' degree of disclosure, based on their gender, employment, and religion. A significant regression equation emerged, F(3,47) = 3.70, p = .02, with an R^2 of .19. Table 13 shows the regression results.

Table 13

Regression Results for Degree of Disclosure

-	Unstandardi	ized coefficients		
	В	Standard error	t	Sig.
Constant	2.96	.21	13.97	.00
Gender	14	.14	-1.06	.30
Employment	08	.07	-1.05	.30
Religion	45	.14	-3.19	.00

 $R^2 = .19, p = .02$, Significant at the p < .05 level.

However, no significant result in a linear regression predicted participants' experienced stigma based on gender, employment, and religion, F(3,48) = .65, p = .59. Moreover, no significant result in a linear regression predicted participants' experienced loss of face, based on the three predictors, F(3,47) = 1.84, p = .15.

Summary

A total of 56 Chinese American immigrants participated in the study. Participants had an average age of 34 years and an average of close to 10 years of education. They have lived in the United States for nearly 13 years and have had a mental illness for more than 8 years. Over half of the participants have a diagnosis of schizophrenia and a majority (68%) were unemployed.

The participants experienced more internalized stigma than experienced stigma.

They reported experiencing internalized stigma higher than the midpoint level. The most commonly experienced internalized-stigma items related to not marrying someone with a mental illness and losing face due to having a mental illness. However, study participants

had a low mean score on the experienced stigma scale. The most experienced stigma areas were being shunned or avoided, being disdained by family members, and being treated as less competent.

In addition, findings indicated that all study participants maintained some level of secrecy regarding their illness. No participants were willing to educate others or advocate for people with mental illness. However, participants did not experience loss of face as was expected. Over one-third of participants expressed not feeling a loss of face due to their mental illness. Those who reported experiencing loss of face had a below average score on the Experience of Loss of Face scale.

In addition, findings revealed that gender and employment status significantly predicted participants' level of internalized stigma, whereas participants' religious affiliation significantly predicted their level of secrecy and disclosure. Moreover, participants' experience of loss of face also significantly predicted their secrecy level after adding internalized stigma and experienced stigma to the model. The discussion that follows demonstrates the significance of the findings and its implication to social work research, practice, and policy.

Chapter 5

Discussion and Implications

The purpose of this study was to examine the stigma experiences of Chinese American individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Very few studies have focused on Chinese Americans with psychiatric disorders, and this study sought to understand the association among stigma, experience of loss of face, and disclosure preferences in this population. In this chapter, I discuss the findings of the study in relation to the existing research. Additionally, I consider the implications of the findings for social work practice, policy, and research. I also discuss the limitations of this study.

Stigma Experiences

Similar to previous studies on stigma among people with severe mental illness (Link, 1987; Link et al., 1989), the mean score of the DDS for this study sample was above the midpoint level. The most prominent internalized-stigma experiences among participants in this study were in the area of marriage and loss of face.

Extending one's family lineage by producing offspring is one of the most significant aspects of the Chinese culture (Kleinman & Kleinman, 1993; Stafford, 2006; Yan, 2003). Chinese individuals believe they are obligated to extend their family lineage through procreating and assuring prosperity. Therefore, being able to get married is a major concern for Chinese people. Being diagnosed with a mental illness, however, threatens one's ability to fulfill this key social responsibility because of concern about the threats of genetic contamination of mental illness (Yang et al., 2013). Mental illnesses are viewed by many in Asian communities as a genetic disease, inherited through family. Thus, mental illness taints not only the individual who is diagnosed with the disorder, but

the whole family, causing them to lose face (Knifton, 2012). Chinese people consider those with a mental illness to be unsuitable for marriage. For example, a public-opinion study in Hong Kong (Chan et al., 2016) indicated that over half of the study participants believed people would not be willing to date someone with psychosis. Increased levels of social restriction and social distance of intimate relationships were associated with a history of mental illness in one's family (Yang et al., 2013). Participants in this study were concerned about negative attitudes toward marrying someone who had been treated for a serious mental disorder, and some had experienced difficulty in finding romantic partners because of their mental illness.

Additionally, studies showed that it is not uncommon for people to believe that individuals with mental illness are dangerous and unpredictable (Chan et al., 2016; Gonzalez-Torres, Oraa, Arıstegui, Fernandez-Rivas, & Guimon, 2006; Mestdagh & Hansen, 2014). This study confirmed such belief in that nearly 60% of the study's participants endorsed the notion that most people feel that a person with a serious mental illness is dangerous and unpredictable.

This study found that participants who had full-time employment before their hospitalization experienced more internalized stigma compared to those who were unemployed. This finding is different from views expressed in other studies. For example, Yang et al. (2014) found that impairment in one's ability to work led to intensified stigma. Moreover, being able to obtain competitive employment is an important component of recovery among people with a serious mental illness, as it brings empowerment, social contact, and increased self-esteem (Marwaha & Johnson, 2005; Tsang et al., 2007). Perhaps employed participants were more aware of the potential of being the target of

discrimination. Some study participants may have previously experienced stigmatization in their employment setting that contributed to our different finding from previous research (Marwaha & Johnson, 2005).

In addition to internalized stigma, previous studies also indicated that mental health consumers often experienced stigma in the area of interpersonal interactions (Jenkins & Carpenter-Song, 2009; Mestdagh & Hansen, 2014; Schulze & Angermeyer, 2003). Just as the findings of other studies suggested (Gonzalez-Torres et al., 2006; Mestdagh & Hansen, 2014; Schulze & Angermeyer, 2003), this study's participants also reported being shunned, ignored, and mocked because of their mental illness. They also experienced a deterioration of social interactions in which the quality of social interactions declined and the frequency of social contacts diminished. A study in Hong Kong indicated that people in the community tended to be reluctant to have people with mental illnesses as neighbors and also believe that people with mental illnesses belonged in psychiatric hospitals (Tsang et al., 2007). Similar to the Chinese American participants in this study, Mestdagh and Hansen's review (2014) found that individuals with mental illness are often being treated as less competent. In contrast, only a small number of participants reported having experienced structural forms of discrimination such as discrimination from mental health professionals and inadequate treatment and services.

An interesting finding from this study is that study participants reported higher internalized stigma than experienced stigma. One reason could be that most study participants did not fully and accurately disclose their mental health condition to others in their social networks; therefore, their mental health condition was mostly known only to their family members and close friends, which contributed to their limited encounter with

experienced stigma. Another reason may be that mental health consumers have limited social networks and have the tendency to avoid social interactions; as a result, they suffered only limited experienced stigma.

Coping Strategies

Secrecy

Although previous studies portrayed secrecy as a negative coping mechanism that has primarily adverse effects such as anxiety on individuals (Vauth et al., 2007; Yow & Mehta, 2010), the Chinese immigrants in this study expressed positive aspects of keeping their mental illness a secret. Quantitative analyses demonstrated that no participants endorsed no secrecy, and one-third of participants endorsed substantial secrecy. The analyses of narrative data further illuminated the reasons behind the secrecy. For example one reason participants wanted to keep their mental illness a secret was the desire to focus on treatment with a plan to return to work. Moreover, participants' wish to remain normal illustrated their desire to function like those who do not have a mental illness. A study of a group of highly acculturated Chinese individuals with a severe mental illness indicated that mental health stigma conditionally rested on the individuals' functioning (Lin, 2013). If the individual was able to function and work, he or she would be less stigmatized than those who were not as able to function. This notion reflects their use of secrecy in an adaptive manner to preserve face so the consumer could reintegrate into the community when his or her symptoms subsided.

Moreover, participants who received mandated treatment such as Assistant

Outpatient Treatment or Assertive Community Treatment were also less secretive about their mental health status. Mental health consumers referenced receive mandated

treatment if their mental illnesses were severe or they had a history of treatmentadherence issue. It is possible that their mental health status was revealed through their
behaviors (e.g., bizarre behaviors during decompensation) or media reports (e.g., as one
participant reported being in a newspaper article because she tried to jump out of the
window) without self-disclosure. As a result, participants were less likely to have to
maintain secrecy. Furthermore, frequent visits from case managers also provided some
external exposure of their mental illness. Many study participants had restricted social
circles; visits from non-Chinese individuals were typically rare. Because most case
managers are not of Chinese descent, it is difficult for participants to hide their mental
illness from people in their community. Married participants also reported a higher level
of secrecy than their unmarried counterparts. This may be because the person with mental
illness felt the need to protect the face and reputation of both families and therefore
sensed the burden of being secretive about their mental health condition.

Disclosure

Although no study participants endorsed no secrecy, none were willing to fully disclose their mental illness. Similar to a study conducted in Singapore in which study participants were hesitant to engage in initiatives to educate others about mental illness (Yow & Mehta, 2010), none of this study's participants were willing to provide advocacy such as participating in public education. Although a good number of participants were willing to disclose their mental health status, they only shared it with a limited number of people such as family and close friends to protect their own privacy. This result resonates with core Chinese values that focus on the protection of one's face and the safeguarding of their *guanxi*. If their mental illness became known to everyone in their social network,

it could potentially damage their *guanxi*, their families' reputations, and consequently their self-esteem. As a result, study participants perceived they had to strategically disclose their mental illness.

Affiliation with a non-Eastern religion (i.e., Christianity) was associated with levels of disclosure in this study. Participants who endorsed having a non-Eastern religion reported higher disclosure levels than those who endorsed having an Eastern traditional religion. Religious involvement in general positively related to psychological well-being and quality of life (Corrigan et al., 2003; Levin & Chatters, 1998). A number of study participants affiliated with non-Eastern religion expressed willingness to confide in their church friends about their mental health status and reported they felt supported. In this study, I did not examine types of activities related to religious affiliation in this study. However, a Christian church group regularly visits one of the Asian inpatient psychiatric units to support patients. Study participants who are affiliated with Christianity may, therefore, have felt accepted and supported by church members.

Experience of Loss of Face

Although studies about mental illness among Chinese communities in different parts of the world found that loss of face and shame are the most common responses to mental health problems (Knifton, 2012; Lin, 2013), over one-third of this study's participants did not report feeling face loss due to mental illness. One reason study participants did not report experiencing loss of face may be due to the three-question scale used in this study. Knifton (2012) and Lin (2013)'s findings regarding loss of face rests on focus groups and semi-structured interviews, respectively, and neither used a quantitative measure to measure loss of face. Although one scale measures loss of face

among the general population (Zane & Yeh, 2002), no measures exist for loss of face among Chinese with mental illness. This area warrants further study.

In spite of the insignificant finding based on the loss-of-face quantitative measure, study participants' narrative comments expressed feeling a loss of face and therefore wanting to keep their mental illness a secret. It is interesting to note that participants who have been ill for fewer years (0 to 10 years) had a higher loss-of-face score than those who had been ill between 11 and 20 years. This may be due to their continual effort to try to uphold Chinese cultural values during their early years of the illness, causing them to feel more strongly about losing face when they saw the difficulty in fulfilling their expectations. Another reason may be that participants who recently became ill were not yet used to the stigma attached to mental illness and therefore felt more face loss. In contrast, participants who have been ill longer might have accepted the possibility that they may never be able to fulfill the expectations of others, and as a result experience less loss of face.

Coping Strategies and the Association With Stigma and Loss of Face

According to previous studies, mental health stigma experiences affect one's disclosure preference, and lower levels of internalized and experienced stigma is associated with greater comfort in disclosing (Kleim et al., 2008; Rüsch, Brohan, Gabbidon, Thornicroft, & Clement, 2014; Yow & Mehta, 2010). However, this study's findings did not correspond to these studies' results. Internalized stigma and experienced stigma did not predict secrecy in the regression model. Rather, experiencing loss of face significantly predicted secrecy, and the feeling of shame also significantly correlated to secrecy. A study among some highly acculturated Chinese American individuals with

mental illness also found that shame was a common negative emotional reaction when something improper occurs (Lin, 2013). The construct of loss of face, which affects many individuals in Asian culture, played an important role in shaping study participants' coping strategy in responding to stigma.

Limitations

This study aimed to examine an understudied area: the stigma experience of Chinese American immigrants diagnosed with schizophrenia spectrum disorders.

Although the largest known data set that focuses on this population was used for this study (Yang et al., 2014), the study had several limitations. First, the study had a small sample size and geographically restricted sample; thus, the results are not generalizable to all Chinese American immigrants. A larger sample size would allow for further examination of the associations among the variables. Conducting future research in a number of U.S. immigrant enclaves would also allow for a broader understanding of mental health stigma experienced by U.S. immigrants with different levels of acculturation and socioeconomic backgrounds.

In addition, participants in the study were all co-residing with family members at the time of data collection. Individuals who had no family in the United States may have had different stigma experiences and may have experienced loss of face differently from those who resided with family members, given that participants who had closer proximity to their families were more likely to feel pressured to preserve the family's face.

Furthermore, those who were willing to participate in research may have held less stigmatizing attitudes about themselves and mental illness, potentially underestimating the effects of stigma. Last, this study was conducted using semi-structured interviews

guided by established stigma measures, which may have restricted participants' responses on their stigma experiences. This study, however, laid out important findings and a method to characterize coping methods among Chinese immigrants that may be used in future studies.

Implications for Practice and Policy

Practice Implications

Despite research that suggested negative outcomes of using secrecy as a coping strategy (Link et al., 1989), this study showed potential benefits of not disclosing one's mental illness. When working with mental health consumers, clinicians should consider the consumers' comfort level regarding how much information and with whom they want to share information about their mental illness. In addition, clinicians should discuss potential positive and negative impacts of disclosing, such as potential discrimination in comparison to additional support one may receive, once their mental health status is known. Core Chinese values such as *guanxi* and the issue of face should be considered as both are fundamental to participants' survival in the community (Chen et al., 2013).

In addition, clinicians should consider incorporating techniques to help cope with stigma into their regular psychiatric treatment. It is essential for mental health consumers to be aware of the negative effects of stigma and effective techniques to handle discriminatory situations. However, it may be difficult to engage consumers in formal ways to address stigma such as anti-stigma campaigns. Therefore, including some basic skills could be useful. Clinicians should consider teaching cognitive-behavioral principles to mental health consumers to help counter internalized stigma and discriminatory behaviors. For example, mental health consumers often have automatic thoughts or

stereotypic thinking about themselves. Using the 3Cs technique—catch it, check it, and change it—consumers can learn to counter their own internalized stigma. Another technique is to help mental health consumers examine their thoughts, feelings, and behaviors when facing discriminatory behaviors. This cognitive-behavioral approach can offer consumers alternative ways to cope with discrimination, thereby preventing others' behaviors to negatively affect them. These techniques were taught to caregivers of mental health consumers in the Chinese American community (Yang et al., 2014), and can also be valuable for mental health consumers.

In addition to helping mental health consumers cope with stigma, it would be beneficial to engage family members to learn about anti-stigma techniques. As studies suggested, family members were also affected by the stigma of mental illness (Koschorke et al., 2017; Mak & Cheung, 2012). Caregivers also experience avoidance and distancing by others in the community and often experience loss of face because of their family member who is diagnosed with a mental illness. It would be helpful for caregivers to learn new ways to handle discrimination. Additionally, helping caregivers counter their own internalized stigma about mental illness would be constructive in facilitating the recovery of individuals with mental illness. Anti-stigma interventions for caregivers of people with mental illness in the mainstream culture have shown efficacy in reducing internalized stigma, increasing acceptance of mental illness, and empowering caregivers (Dixon et al., 2011; Perlick et al., 2011). Additionally, Yang et al. (2014) has piloted a short-term anti-stigma intervention based on established interventions with modifications specifically designed for Chinese caregivers. The pilot intervention has received positive feedback from participants and showed a trend in stigma reduction following the

intervention. The continuation of such anti-stigma interventions would be constructive for caregivers to manage their own stigma experience.

Employment programs can be effective in helping mental health consumers who desire to return to work (Marwaha & Johnson, 2005). Many mental health consumers are concerned with their ability to cope with work-related stress and the risks of decompensation (Marwaha & Johnson, 2005). Employment programs would be a good starting point in which consumers could receive support and assistance to balance work and treatment adherence. An evidence-based practice of supported employment for people with mental illness called Individual Placement and Support has shown to be effective in helping individuals with mental illness maintain employment and improve job retention (Luciano et al., 2014; Marshall et al., 2014). The Individual Placement and Support program has been implemented with different cultural groups such as African Americans and Latino Americans in the United States and internationally (Luciano et al., 2014), and has shown similar results in other parts of the world including Hong Kong (Tsang, Chan, Wong, & Liberman, 2009). Furthermore, programs that cater to the immigrant population are lacking. Therefore, it is important for employment programs to hire bilingual staff with an understanding of the specific challenges immigrants face. Such programs could help improve treatment adherence among Chinese mental health consumers and decrease the discrimination to which consumers are susceptible in traditional work settings.

Implications for Social Work Policy and Education

The recovery model has played an important role in reshaping mental health services since the 1990s (Anthony, 1993). Recovery, as a concept, emerged from

consumers, and is "described as a deeply personal unique process of changing one's attitudes, values, feelings, goals, skills, and/or roles [and] ... is a way of living a satisfying, hopeful, and contributing life even with limitations caused by illness" (Anthony, 1993, p. 15). In addition to controlling psychiatric symptoms and regaining functioning, being able to cope with mental health stigma is another significant aspect of the recovery movement (Tse, Siu, & Kan, 2013). Self-disclosure and group identification are crucial means to challenge stigma and gain empowerment (Marino, Child, & Krasinski, 2016); however, self-disclosure and group identification require individuals with mental illness to risk facing discrimination. Despite the potential benefits of disclosing one's mental health status, study participants expressed reluctance. Similar to findings in a study in Hong Kong (R. M. Ng, Pearson, Lam, Law, Chiu, & Chen, 2008), participants in this study focused on symptom remission and reclaiming life roles in work. Some study participants expressed their belief that it is unnecessary to disclose their mental health status to others; instead, they wish to focus on treatment and finding employment. Researchers (Chiu, Ho, Lo, & Yiu, 2010; R. M. Ng et al., 2008; Yee, 2003) found conflicting results about whether the recovery model from the West can be applied directly to Asian culture. Policymakers need to reconsider the meaning of recovery among service users in minority communities when designing mental health policies and programs. In addition, practitioners should explore and integrate the various definitions of recovery into treatment to promote the well-being of service users.

Public anti-stigma campaigns should emphasize culturally appropriate language, nuances, and concepts if they engage minority communities. Knifton (2012) found that a national anti-stigma campaign in the United Kingdom failed to reach many ethnic-

minority groups because of inappropriate language use and a focus on the use of the Western medical model. For example, participants in the Knifton study felt that the individualistic approach of mental illness used in the public campaign did not correspond with the more community- and group-focused attitude endorsed by their cultural group. Instead Knifton suggested engaging in personal contacts, dialogues, and group discussions in managing stigma that are embedded in one's community. This approach is far more effective than merely receiving written information or an advertisement. This approach can also be used for the Chinese American immigrant population. Having personal contacts or dialogues could address stigma such as threats of genetic contamination or inability to function or work.

Social work educators need to address the issue of mental health stigma in social work curriculum more comprehensively. Although the subject of stigma is infused in courses that teach about mental health, this subject deserves more attention. Social work students are seldom challenged to examine the issue of mental health stigma from personal, institutional, and cultural perspectives (Matsuoka & Thompson, 2009); social work schools should provide greater opportunities and space for such conversations. In addition to understanding the types of stigma regularly experienced by mental health consumers, social work students need to examine their own values, attitudes, and beliefs about mental health consumers. One social work program in Canada designed an antistigma program to be incorporated into its social work education. The program uses a strengths-based perspective to integrate consumers of the mental health system as lead instructors to engage in discussions about stigma, creating collaborative contact opportunities for students, teachers, and mental health consumers in equal discussion

(Matsuoka & Thompson, 2009). Such collaborative contact produces positive results in reducing stigma and discrimination (Matsuoka & Thompson, 2009). Social work programs in the United States should consider designing a similar program to increase social work students' awareness about mental health stigma and to equip them with the skills to counter stigma in social work practice at multiple levels.

Future Research

This study is one of only a few research projects that interviewed Chinese immigrants in the United States diagnosed with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Schizophrenia is a highly stigmatizing illness; therefore, individuals diagnosed with such illnesses tend to be reluctant to engage in this kind of study. This study has generated valuable information concerning the stigma experienced by Chinese American individuals with mental illness. It is crucial to continue to further understanding of the lived experiences of Chinese American individuals with mental illnesses to serve this population effectively. Further studies would benefit from having a larger sample size and samples from multiple immigrant enclaves. In addition, future research study could focus on culture-specific constructs such as the what matters most framework to investigate how these cultural concepts protect against or exacerbate Chinese individuals' stigma experience. Moreover, it would be critical to examine how structural stigma produces health inequality among this minority group. Although stigma is a social determinant of population health, most extant research focuses on the effects of stigma on an individual level. Literature that studied the influence of structural forms of stigma on the overall health outcomes among people with mental illness is very limited (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). It would be advantageous to understand ways structural

stigma negatively produces health disparity in the Chinese American group that may already be facing discrimination, due to its minority status in the United States.

Furthermore, the secrecy and disclosure scales need to be further tested for their usefulness and robustness. First, they should be tested with a larger sample size and with additional variables. Second, researchers may use them to examine secrecy and disclosure level among other conditions that bear similar stigmatizing traits such as people with HIV/AIDS. Future research can also use these two scales in other ethnic groups and examine if they are appropriate for other populations. The use of a phenomenological study to augment understanding of the day-to-day lived experiences of Chinese American immigrants with mental illness would allow researchers to develop a deep and rich description of the complex issues they face.

Conclusion

This study examined the relationships among internalized stigma, experienced stigma, experienced loss of face, and coping strategies of Chinese American individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. This study demonstrated a unique pathway of culturally distinct constructs that influence Chinese mental health consumers' coping strategies. Although internalized stigma and experienced stigma traditionally have been known as predictors of one's secrecy regarding one's mental illness, this study found that experience of loss of face—a culturally unique construct—significantly predicted participants' secrecy. This finding, in conjunction with the qualitative data collected from participants, illustrated the distinctiveness and complexity of the Chinese mental health consumers' stigma experiences. This finding could guide future researchers to further examine the experience of the loss-of-face construct and how this construct shapes

Chinese individuals' stigma experiences and coping methods. Social workers need to understand the cultural expectations and norms of this population and develop appropriate approaches to reduce mental health stigma, increasing efficacy of treatment and productivity of mental health consumers in the workforce, which will reap benefits for the richly diverse U.S. socioeconomic fabric.

References

- Abdullah, T., & Brown, T. L. (2011). Mental illness stigma and ethnocultural beliefs, values, and norms: An integrative review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *31*, 934–948. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2011.05.003
- Ahmead, M. K., Rahhal, A. A., & Baker, J. A. (2010). The attitudes of mental health professionals towards patients with mental illness in an inpatient setting in Palestine. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 19, 356–362. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2010.00674.x
- Angermeyer, M. C., & Schulze, B. (2001). Reinforcing stereotypes: How the focus on forensic cases in news reporting may influence public attitudes towards the mentally ill. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 24, 469–486. doi:10.1016/S0160-2527(01)00079-6
- Anthony, W. A. (1993). Recovery from mental illness: The guiding vision of the mental health service system in the 1990s. *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal*, *16*(4), 11–23. doi:10.1037/h0095655
- Arthur, B., Knifton, L., Park, M., & Doherty, E. (2008). 'Cutting the dash' experiences of mental health and employment. *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 7, 51–59. doi:10.1108/17465729200800029
- Asian American Federation. (2013). *Profile of New York City's Chinese Americans: 2013 edition*. Retrieved from http://www.aafny.org/cic/briefs/chinese2013.pdf
- Becker, H. S. (1963). *Outsiders: Studies in the sociology of deviance*. New York, NY: Free Press.

- Björkman, T., Angelman, T., & Jönsson, M. (2008). Attitudes towards people with mental illness: A cross-sectional study among nursing staff in psychiatric and somatic care. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 22, 170–177. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6712.2007.00509.x
- Blignault, I., Ponzio, V., Rong, Y., & Eisenbruch, M. (2008). A qualitative study of barriers to mental health services utilisation among migrants from mainland China in south-east Sydney. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *54*, 180–190. doi:10.1177/0020764007085872
- Bos, A. E, Kanner, D., Muris, P., Janssen, B., & Mayer B. (2009). Mental illness stigma and disclosure: Consequences of coming out of the closet. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *30*, 509–513. doi:10.1080/01612840802601382
- Bourque, F., van der Ven, E., & Malla, A. (2011). A meta-analysis of the risk for psychotic disorders among first- and second-generation immigrants.

 *Psychological Medicine, 41, 897–910. doi:10.1017/S0033291710001406
- Brohan, E., Slade, M., Clement, S., & Thornicroft, G. (2010). Experiences of mental illness stigma, prejudice and discrimination: A review of measures. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, 1–11. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-10-80
- Chan, S. K. W., Tam, W. W. Y, Lee, K. W., Hui, C. L. M., Chang, W. C., Lee, E. H. M. & Chen, E. Y. H. (2016). A population study of public stigma about psychosis and its contributing factors among Chinese population in Hong Kong.
 International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 62, 205–213. doi:10.1177
 /0020764015621941

- Chee, C. Y. I., Ng, T. P., & Kua, E. H. (2005). Comparing the stigma of mental illness in a general hospital with a state mental hospital: A Singapore study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 40, 648–653. doi:10.1007/s00127-005-0932-z
- Chen, F., Lai, G. Y., & Yang, L. (2013). Mental illness disclosure in Chinese immigrant communities. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60, 379–391. doi:10.1037/a0032620
- Chien, W., Yeung, F. K. K., & Chan, A. H. L. (2012). Perceived stigma of patients with severe mental illness in Hong Kong: Relationships with patients' psychosocial conditions and attitudes of family caregivers and health professionals.

 **Administration and Policy in Mental Health, 41, 237–251. doi:10.1007/s10488-012-0463-3
- Chiu, M. Y. L., Ho, W. W. N., Lo, W. T. L., & Yiu, M. G. C. (2010). Operationalization of the SAMHSA model of recovery: A quality of life perspective. *Quality of Life Research*, 19, 1–13. doi:10.1007/s11136-009-9555-2
- Chung, K. F., & Wong, M. C. (2004). Experience of stigma among Chinese mental health patients in Hong Kong. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, *28*, 451–454. doi:10.1192/pb.28.12

 .451
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohn, J. (2015). The long and winding road of mental illness stigma. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 93, 480–483. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12135

- Corrigan, P. W. (2005). Dealing with stigma through personal disclosure. In P. Corrigan (Ed.), *On the stigma of mental illness: Practical strategies for research and social change* (pp. 257–280). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Corrigan, P. W., & Kleinlein, P. (2005). The impact of mental illness stigma. In P. Corrigan (Ed.), *On the stigma of mental illness: Practical strategies for research and social change* (pp. 11–44). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., & Kuwabara, S. A. (2010). Social psychology of the stigma of mental illness. In J. E. Maddux & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Social psychological foundations of clinical psychology* (pp. 51–68). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Corrigan, P. W., McCorkle, B., Schell, B., & Kidder, K. (2003). Religion and spirituality in the lives of people with serious mental illness. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *39*, 487–499. doi:10.1023/B:COMH.0000003010.44413.37
- Corrigan, P. W., & Watson, A. C. (2002). The paradox of self-stigma and mental illness. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 9, 35–53. doi:10.1093/clipsy.9.1.35
- Crisp, A. H., Gelder, M. G., Rix, S., Meltzer, H. I., & Rowlands, O. J. (2000).

 Stigmatisation of people with mental illness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 177, 4–7. doi:10.1192/bjp.177.1.4
- Dein, S. (2010). Religion, spirituality and mental health: Theoretical and clinical perspectives. *Psychiatric Times, January*, 28–32. Retrieved from http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/articles/religion-spirituality-and-mental-health

- Depla, M. F., de Graaf, R., van Weeghel, J., & Heeren, T. J. (2005). The role of stigma in the quality of life of older adults with severe mental illness. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20, 146–153. doi:10.1002/gps.1264
- Dickerson, F. B., Sommerville, J., Origoni, A. E, Ringel, N. B., & Parente, F. (2002). Experiences of stigma among outpatients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 28, 143–155. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006917
- Dixon, L. B., Lucksted, A., Medoff, D. R., Burland, J., Stewart, B., Lehman, A. F., ...

 Murray-Swank, A. (2011). Outcomes of a randomized study of a peer-taught
 family-to family education program for mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*, 62,
 591–597. doi:10.1176/ps.62.6.pss6206_0591
- Doherty, E. G. (1975). Labeling effects in psychiatric hospitalization. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 32, 562–568. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1975.01760230028002
- Druss, B. G., Allen, H. M., & Bruce, M. L. (1998). Physical health, depressive symptoms, and managed care enrollment. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 7, 878–882. doi:10.1176/ajp.155.7.878
- Earley, P. C. (1997). Face, harmony, and social structure: An analysis of organizational behavior across cultures. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- El-Badri, S., & Mellsop, G. (2007). Stigma and quality of life as experienced by people with mental illness. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *15*, 195–200. doi:10.1080 /10398560701320089

- Estroff, S. E., Lachicotte, W. S., Illingworth, C. L., & Johnston, A. (1991). Everybody's got a little mental illness: Accounts of illness and self among people with severe, persistent mental illnesses. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, *5*, 331–369. doi:10 .1525/maq.1991.5.4.02a00030
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences.

 *Behavior Research Methods, 39, 175–191. doi:10.3758%2FBF03193146
- Forrester-Jones, R., & Barnes, A. (2008). On being a girlfriend not a patient: The quest for an acceptable identity amongst people diagnosed with a severe mental illness.

 *Journal of Mental Health, 17, 153–172. doi:10.1080/09638230701498341
- Fung, K. M. T., Tsang, H. W. H., & Cheung, W. (2011). Randomized controlled trial of the self-stigma reduction program among individuals with schizophrenia.
 Psychiatry Research, 189, 208–214. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.02.013
- Fung, K. M. T., Tsang, H. W. H., & Corrigan, P. W. (2008). Self-stigma of people with schizophrenia as predictor of their adherence to psychosocial treatment.
 Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 32, 95–104. doi:10.2975/32.2.2008.95.104
- Gao, G. (1998). An initial analysis of the effects of face and concern for "other" in Chinese interpersonal communication. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 22, 467–482. doi:10.1016/S0147-1767(98)00019-4
- Gao, S., Phillips, M., & Wang, X. (2005). Experience of stigma among patients with schizophrenia and their family members and attitudes of different groups about this stigma. *Chinese Mental Health Journal*, 19(2), 82–85.

- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gonzalez-Torres, M. A., Oraa, R., Arıstegui, M., Fernandez-Rivas, A., & Guimon, J. (2006). Stigma and discrimination towards people with schizophrenia and their family members: A qualitative study with focus groups. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 42, 14–23. doi:10.1007/s00127-006-0126-3
- Gove, W. R. (1980a). Labelling and mental illness. In W. R. Gove (Ed.), *The labeling of deviance: Evaluating a perspective* (2nd ed., pp. 53–98). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Gove, W. R. (1980b). The labelling perspective: An overview. In W. R. Gove (Ed.), *The labeling of deviance: Evaluating a perspective* (2nd ed., pp. 9–25). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Gove, W. R., & Fain, T. (1973). The stigma of mental hospitalization: An attempt to evaluate its consequences. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 28, 494–500. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1973.01750340034005
- Greene, J. C. (2007). Mixed methods in social inquiry. New York, NY: Wiley & Sons.
- Haraguchi, K., Maeda, M., Xiao, Y., & Uchimura, N. (2009). Stigma associated with schizophrenia: Cultural comparison of social distance in Japan and China.

 *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 63, 153–160. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819

 .2009.01922.x
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Phelan, J. C., & Link, B. G. (2013). Stigma as a fundamental cause of population health inequalities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*, 813–821. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301069

- Herman, N. J. (1993). Return to sender: Reintegrative stigma-management strategies of ex-psychiatric patients. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 22, 295–330. doi: 10.1177/089124193022003002
- Ho, D. Y., Fu, W., & Ng, S. M. (2004). Guilt, shame and embarrassment: Revelations of face and self. *Culture & Psychology*, 10, 64–84. doi:10.1177/13540 67X04044166
- Hsiao, C. Y., Lu, H. L, & Tsai, Y. F. (2017). Effect of family sense of coherence on internalized stigma and health-related quality of life among individuals with schizophrenia. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1111/inm.12302
- Hu, H. C. (1944). The Chinese concepts of "face." *American Anthropologist*, 46, 45–64. doi:10.1525/aa.1944.46.1.02a00040
- Huang, G. G. (2004). Face and communication in Chinese society. In H. C. Hu, & G. G. Huang (Eds.), *Face: Chinese power games* (pp. 1–55). Beijing, China: Renmin University Press.
- Hwang, K. K. (1997). Guanxi and mientze: Conflict resolution in Chinese society. *Intercultural Communication Studies*, 7(1), 17–38. doi:10.1.1.596.4829
- Ishige, N., & Hayashi, N. (2005). Occupation and social experience: Factors influencing attitude towards people with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *9*, 89–95. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01337.x
- Jenkins, J. H., & Carpenter-Song, E. A. (2009). Awareness of stigma among persons with schizophrenia: Marking the contexts of lived experience. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 197, 520–529. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181aad5e9

- Jenkins, J. H., Strauss, M. E., Carpenter, E. A., Miller, D., Floersch, J., & Sajatovic, M. (2005). Subjective experience of recovery from schizophrenia-related disorders and atypical antipsychotics. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 51, 211–227. doi:10.1177/0020764005056986
- Jones, E., Farina, A., Hastorf, A., Markus, H., Miller, D. T., & Scott, R. (1984). *Social stigma: The psychology of marked relationships*. New York, NY: Freeman.
- Jorm, A. F., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., Christensen, H., & Henderson, S. (1999).

 Attitudes toward people with a mental disorder: A survey of the Australian public and health professionals. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 33, 77–83. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1614.1999.00513.x
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-Month DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *62*, 617–627. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.617
- Kirk, S. A. (1974). The impact of labeling on rejection of the mentally ill: An experimental study. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *15*, 108–117. doi:10 .2307/2137190
- Kleim, B., Vauth, R., Adam, G., Stieglitz, R., Hayward, P., & Corrigan, P. (2008).

 Perceived stigma predicts low self-efficacy and poor coping in schizophrenia. *Journal of Mental Health*, 17, 482–491. doi:10.1080/09638230701506283
- Kleinman, A., & Kleinman, J. (1993). Face, favor and families: The social course of mental health problems in Chinese and American societies. *Chinese Journal of Mental Health*, 6, 37–47.

- Knifton, L. (2012). Understanding and addressing the stigma of mental illness with ethnic minority communities. *Health Sociology Review*, 21, 287–298. doi:10.5172/hesr .2012.21.3.287
- Kobau, R., Dilorio, C., Chapman, D., & Delvecchio, P. (2010). Attitudes about mental illness and its treatment: Validation of a generic scale for public health surveillance of mental illness associated stigma. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 46, 164–176. doi:10.1007/s10597-009-9191-x
- Koenig, H. G. (2009). Research on religion, spirituality, and mental health: A review. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *54*, 283–291. doi:10.1177/070674370905400502
- Koenig, H. G. (2015). Religion, spirituality, and health: A review and update. *Advances* in *Mind–Body Medicine*, 29(3), 19–26.
- Koschorke, M, Padmavati, R., Kumar, S., Cohen, A. Weiss, H. A., Chatterjee, S., ...

 Thornicroft, G. (2017). Experiences of stigma and discrimination faced by family caregivers of people with schizophrenia in India. *Social Science & Medicine*, 178, 66–77. doi:10.1016/j.socscrimed.2017.01.061
- Lai, G. Y., Lo, G., Ngo, H., Chou, Y., & Yang, L. (2013). Migration, sociocultural factors, and local cultural worlds among Fuzhounese Chinese immigrants:

 Implications for mental health interventions. *International Journal of Culture and Mental Health*, 6, 141–155. doi:10.1080/17542863.2012.674785
- Lake, J. (2012). Spirituality and religion in mental health: A concise review of the evidence. *Psychiatric Times, March*, 34–38.

- Larsen, T. K., Johannessen, J. O., & Opjordsmoen, S. (1998). First-episode schizophrenia with long duration of untreated psychosis: Pathways to care. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 172, 45–52.
- Lauber, C., Anthony, M., Ajdacic-Gross, V., & Rossler, W. (2004). What about psychiatrists' attitude to mentally ill people? *European Psychiatry*, *19*, 423–427. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2004.06.019
- Lee, S., Chiu, M. Y. L., Tsang, A., Chui, H., & Kleinman, A. (2006). Stigmatizing experience and structural discrimination associated with the treatment of schizophrenia in Hong Kong. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62, 1685–1696. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.08.016
- Lee, S., Lee, M. T. Y., Chiu, M. Y. L., & Kleinman, A. (2005). Experience of social stigma by people with schizophrenia in Hong Kong. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 186, 153–157. doi:10.1192/bjp.186.2.153
- Lee, S. Y., Martins, S. S., Keyes, K. M., & Lee, H. B. (2011). Mental health service use by persons of Asian ancestry with DSM-IV mental disorders in the United States.

 *Psychiatric Services, 62, 1180–1186. doi:10.1176/ps.62.10.pss6210_1180
- Levin, J. S., & Chatters, L. M. (1998). Research on religion and mental health: An overview of empirical findings and theoretical issues. In H. G. Koenig (Ed.), *Handbook of religion and mental health* (pp. 33–50). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Lewis-Fernandez, R., & Kleinman, A. M. (1994). Culture, personality, and psychopathology. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *103*, 67–71. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.103.1.67

- Lin, S. Y. (2013). Beliefs about causes, symptoms, and stigma associated with severe mental illness among 'highly acculturated' Chinese-American patients.

 *International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 59, 745–751. doi:10.1177

 /0020764012454384
- Link, B. G. (1987). Understanding labeling effects in the area of mental disorders: An assessment of the effects of expectation of rejections. *American Sociological Review*, *52*, 96–112. doi:10.2307/2095395
- Link, B. G., Cullen, F. T., Frank, J., & Wozniak, J. (1987). The social rejection of former mental patients: Understanding why labels matter. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 92, 1461–1500. doi:10.1086/228672
- Link, B. G., Cullen, F. T, Struening, E. L, Shrout, E. L., & Dohrenwend, B. P. (1989). A modified labeling theory approach to mental disorders: An empirical assessment.
 American Sociological Review, 54, 400–423. doi:10.2307/2095613
- Link, B. G., Mirotznik, J., & Cullen, F. T. (1991). The effectiveness of stigma coping strategies: Can negative consequences of mental illness labeling be avoided?

 **Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 32, 302–320. doi:10.2307/2136810
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001a). Conceptualizing stigma. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27, 363–385. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001b). On stigma and its public health implications. Paper presented at Stigma and Global Health: Developing a Research Agenda. Bethesda, MD.

- Link, B. G., Struening, E. L., Neese-Todd, S., Asmussen, S., & Phelan, J. C. (2001).
 Stigma as a barrier to recovery: The consequences of stigma for the self-esteem of people with mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*, *52*, 1621–1626. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.12.1621
- Link, B. G., Struening, E. L., Neese-Todd, S., Asmussen, S., & Phelan, J. C. (2002). On describing and seeking to change the experience of stigma. *Psychiatric Services*, 6, 201–231. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.12.1621
- Link, B. G., Yang, L. H., Phelan, J. C., & Collins, P. Y. (2004). Measuring mental illness stigma. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *30*, 511–541. Retrieved from http://www.montefiore.org/documents/Measuring-Mental-Illness-Stigma.pdf
- Livingston, J. D., & Boyd, J. E. (2010). Correlates and consequences of internalized stigma for people living with mental illness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71, 2150–2161. doi:10.5897/JAHR2013.0288
- Luciano, A., Drake, R. E., Bond, G. R., Becker, D. R., Carpenter-Song, E., Lord, S., ... Swanson, S. J. (2014). Evidence-based supported employment for people with severe mental illness: Past, current, and future research. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 40, 1–13. doi:10.3233/JVR-130666
- Lundberg, B., Hansson, L., Wentz, E., & Björkman, T. (2007). Sociodemographic and clinical factors related to devaluation/discrimination and rejection experiences among users of mental health services. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 42, 295–300. doi:10.1007/s00127-007-0160-9

- Lundberg, B., Hansson, L., Wentz, E., & Björkman, T. (2008). Stigma, discrimination, empowerment and social networks: A preliminary investigation of their influence on subjective quality of life in a Swedish sample. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *54*, 47–55. doi:10.1177/0020764007082345
- Lv, Y., Wolf, A., & Wang, X. (2013). Experienced stigma and self-stigma in Chinese patients with schizophrenia. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, *35*, 83–88. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2012.07.007
- Magliano, L., Fiorillo, A., De Rosa, C., Malangone, C., & Maj, M. (2004). Beliefs about schizophrenia in Italy: A comparative nationwide survey of the general public, mental health professionals, and patients' relatives. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49, 322–330. doi:10.1177/070674370404900508
- Mak, W. W. S., & Cheung, R. Y. M. (2012). Psychological distress and subjective burden of caregivers of people with mental illness: The role of affiliate stigma and face concern. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 48, 270–274. doi:10.1007/s10597-011-9422-9
- Marino, C. K., Child, B., & Krasinski, V. C. (2016). Sharing experience learned firsthand (SELF): Self-disclosure of lived experience in mental health services and supports.

 *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 39, 154–160. doi:10.1037/prj0000171
- Marshall, T., Goldberg, R. W., Braude, L., Dougherty, R. H., Deniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Supported employment: Assessing the evidence. *Psychiatric Services*, *65*, 16–23. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201300262

- Marwaha, S., & Johnson, S. (2005). Views and experiences of employment among people with psychosis: A qualitative descriptive study. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 51, 302–316. doi:10.1177/0020764005057386
- Matsuoka, A. K. & Thompson, A. (2009). Combating stigma and discrimination among social work students. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*, 28(2), 95–98. doi:10.7870/cjcmh-2009-0025
- Mestdagh, A., & Hansen, B. (2014). Stigma in patients with schizophrenia receiving community mental health care: A review of qualitative studies. *Social Psychiatry* & *Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 49, 79–87. doi:10.1007/s00127-013-0729-4
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2008). *The numbers count: Mental disorders in America*. Retrieved November 18, 2008, from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/the-numbers-count-mental-disorders-in-america.shtml
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2013). *The numbers count: Mental disorders in America*. Retrieved from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/the -numbers-count-mental-disorders-in-america/index.shtml#RegierServiceSystem
- New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. (2017). *EPI data brief*.

 Retrieved from http://www1.nyc.gov/assets/doh/downloads/pdf/epi/databrief91

 .pdf
- New York City Planning. (2016). *New York city population*. Retrieved from https://www1.nyc.gov/site/planning/data-maps/nyc-population/population-facts.page
- Ng, C. H. (1997). The stigma of mental illness in Asian cultures. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 31, 382–390. doi:10.3109/00048679709073848

- Ng, R. M., Pearson, V., Lam, M., Law, C. W., Chiu, C. P., & Chen, E. Y. (2008). What does recovery from schizophrenia mean? Perceptions of long-term patients.

 *International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 54, 118–130. doi:10.1177/0020764007084600
- Nordt, C., Rössler, W., & Lauber, C. (2006). Attitudes of mental health professionals toward people with schizophrenia and major depression. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 32, 709–714. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbj065
- Perlick, D. A., Nelson, A. H., Mattias, K., Selzer, J., Kalvin, C., Wilber, C. H., ...

 Corrigan, P. W. (2011). In our own voice-family companion: Reducing selfstigma of family members of persons with serious mental illness. *Psychiatric*Services, 62, 1456–1462. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.001222011
- Phillips, M. R., Pearson, V., Li, F., Xu, M., & Yang, L. (2002). Stigma and expressed emotion: A study of people with schizophrenia and their family members in China. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 181, 288–293. doi:10.1.1.513.6344
- Phillips, M. R., Zhang, J., Shi, Q., Song, Z., Ding, Z., Pang, S., ... Wang, Z. (2009).

 Prevalence, treatment, and associated disability of mental disorders in four provinces in China during 2001–05: An epidemiological survey. *The Lancet*, *373*, 2041–2053. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60660-7
- Rao, D., Feinglass, J., & Corrigan, P. (2007). Racial and ethnic disparities in mental illness stigma. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 195, 1020–1023. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e31815c046e
- Ritsher, J. B., & Phelan, J. C. (2004). Internalized stigma predicts erosion of morale among psychiatric outpatients. *Psychiatry Research*, 129, 257–265.

- Robinson, D., Woerner, M. G., Alvir, J. M., Bilder, R., Goldman, R., Geisler, S., ...

 Lieberman, J. A. (1999). Predictors of relapse following response from a first episode of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *56*, 241–247. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.56.3.241
- Rosenfield, S. (1997). Labeling mental illness: The effects of received services and perceived stigma on life satisfaction. *American Sociological Review*, *62*, 660–672. doi:10.2307/2657432
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. R. (2008). *Research methods for social work*. Belmont, CA: Thomson Brooks/Cole.
- Rüsch, N., Brohan, E., Gabbidon, J., Thornicroft, G., & Clement, S. (2014). Stigma and disclosing one's mental illness to family and friends. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 49, 1157–1160. doi:10.1007/s00127-014-0871-7
- Ruscio, J. (2004). Diagnoses and the behaviors they denote: A critical evaluation of the labeling theory of mental illness. *The Scientific Review of Mental Health Practice*, 3(1), 5–22.
- Saavedra, J., López, M., González, S., Arias, S., & Crawford, P. (2016). Cognitive and social functioning correlates of employment among people with severe mental illness. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *52*, 851–858. doi:10.1007/s10597-015-9874-4
- Sandelowski, M., Voils, C. I., & Knafl, G. (2009). On quantitizing. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *3*, 208–222. doi:10.1177/1558689809334210

- Saravanan, B., Jacob, K. S., Deepak, M. G., Prince, M., David, A. S., & Bhugra, D. (2008). Perceptions about psychosis and psychiatric services: A qualitative study from Vellore, India. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 43, 231–231. doi:10.1007/s00127-007-0292-y
- Scheff, T. J. (1966). Being mentally ill: A sociological theory. Chicago, IL: Aldine.
- Scheff, T. J. (1974). The labeling theory of mental illness. *American Sociological Review*, 39, 444–452. doi:10.2307/2094300
- Scheff, T. J. (1975). Schizophrenia as ideology. In T. J. Scheff (Ed.), *Labeling madness* (pp. 5–11). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Schneider, J., & Conrad, P. (1980). In the closet with illness: Epilepsy, stigma potential and information control. *Social Problems*, 28, 32–44. doi:10.2307/800379
- Schomerus, G., Schwahn, C., Holzinger, A., Corrigan, P. W., Grabel, H. J., Carta, M. G.,
 & Angermeyer, M. C. (2012). Evolution of public attitudes about mental illness:
 A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 125,
 440–452. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2012.01826.x
- Schulze, B., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2003). Subjective experiences of stigma. A focus group study of schizophrenic patients, their relatives and mental health professionals. *Social Science & Medicine*, *56*, 299–312. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536 (02)00028
- Servais, L. M., & Saunders, S. M. (2007). Clinical psychologists' perceptions of persons with mental illness. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *38*, 214–219. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.38.2.214

- Shea, M., & Yeh, C. J. (2008). Asian American students' cultural values, stigma, and relational self-construal: Correlates of attitudes toward professional help seeking. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling, 30,* 157–163. doi:10.17744/mehc.30.2

 .g662g512r1352198
- Sipe, T. A., Finnie, R. K., Knopf, J. A., Qu, S., Reynolds, J. A., Thota, A. B., ...

 McKnight-Eily, L. R. (2015). Effects of mental health benefits legislation: A

 community guide systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*,

 48, 755–766. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.01.022
- So, E., Kam, I., Leung, C. M., Chung, D., Liu, Z., & Fong, S. (2003). The Chinese-bilingual SCID-I/P Project: Stage 1—Reliability for mood disorders and schizophrenia. *Hong Kong Journal of Psychiatry*, *13*(1), 7–18.
- Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B., Gibbon, M., & First, M. B. (1992). The structured clinical interview for DSM-III-R (SCID). I: History, rationale, and description. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 49, 624–629. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820080032005
- Spriggs, M., Olsson, C. A., & Hall, W. (2008). How will information about the genetic risk of mental disorders impact on stigma? *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42, 214–220. doi:10.1080/00048670701827226
- Stafford, C. (2006). The roads of Chinese childhood: Learning and identification in Angang. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Sullivan, M., Hamilton, T., & Allen, H. (2005). Changing stigma through the media. In P. Corrigan (Ed.) *On the stigma of mental illness: Practical strategies for research and social change* (pp. 297–312). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

- Świtaj, P., Wciórka, J., Grygiel, P., Anczewska, M., Schaeffer, E., Tyczyński, K., & Wiśniewski, A. (2012). Experiences of stigma and discrimination among users of mental health services in Poland. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 49, 51–68. doi:10
- Świtaj, P., Wciórka, J., Grygiel, P., Smolarska-Świtaj, J., Anczewska, M., & Grzesik, A. (2011). Experience of stigma by people with schizophrenia compared with people with depression or malignancies. *The Psychiatrist*, *35*, 135–139. doi:10.1192/pb .bp.110.029579
- Świtaj, P., Wciórka, J., Smolarska-Świtaj, J., & Grygiel, P. (2009). Extent and predictors of stigma experienced by patients with schizophrenia. *European Psychiatry*, *24*, 513–520. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2009.06.003
- Takeuchi, D. T., Alegría, M., Jackson, J. S., & Williams, D. R. (2007). Immigration and mental health: Diverse findings in Asian, Black, and Latino populations.
 American Journal of Public Health, 97, 11–12. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2006.103911
- Takeuchi, D. T., Hong, S., Gile, K., & Alegría, M. (2007). Developmental contexts and mental disorders among Asian Americans. *Research in Human Development, 4*, 49–69. doi:10.1080/15427600701480998
- Tan, X. N. A., Klainin-Yobas, P., & Creedy, D. K. (2011). A comprehensive systematic review on the perception and experience of stigma among people with schizophrenia. *JBIDatabase of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Report*, 9, 1132–1192. doi:10.11124/01938924-201109270-00001
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Resisting the stigma of mental illness. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 74, 6–28. doi:10.1177/0190272511398019

- Thoits, P. A. & Link, B. G. (2016). Stigma resistance and wellbeing among people in treatment for Psychosis. *Society and Mental Health*, 6(1), 1–20. doi:10.1177/2156869315591367
- Tovino, S. A. (2012). All illnesses are (not) created equal: Reforming federal mental health insurance law. *Harvard Journal on Legislation*, 49, 1–50. Retrieved from http://harvardjol.wpengine.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Tovino1.pdf
- Tsang, H. W. H, Angell, B., Corrigan, P. W., Lee, Y., Chow, K. S., Lam, S., ... Fung, K. M. T. (2007). A cross-cultural study of employers' concerns about hiring people with psychotic disorder: implications for recovery. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 42, 723–733. doi:10.1007/s00127-007-0208-x
- Tsang, H. W. H., Chan, A., Wong, A., & Liberman, R. P. (2009). Vocational outcomes of an integrated supported employment program for individuals with persistent and severe mental illness. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 40, 292–305. doi:10.1016/j.btep.2008.12.007
- Tse, S., Siu, B. W. M., & Kan, A. (2013). Can recovery-oriented mental health services be created in Hong Kong? Struggles and strategies. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 40, 155–158. doi:10.1007/s10488-011-0391-7
- Üçok, A., Polat, A., Sartorius, N., Erkoc, S., & Atakli, C. (2004). Attitudes of psychiatrists toward schizophrenia. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *58*, 89–91. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2004.01198.x
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). *The Asian population 2010. Census 2000 brief.* Retrieved March 3, 2013, from http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-11.pdf

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2001). *Mental health: Culture, race,*and ethnicity—A supplement to mental health: A report of the surgeon general.

 Rockville, MD: Office of the Surgeon General.
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6(5), 100–110. doi:10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- Vauth, R., Kleim, B., Wirtz, M., & Corrigan, P. W. (2007). Self-efficacy and empowerment as outcomes of self-stigmatizing and coping in schizophrenia.

 *Psychiatry Research, 150, 71–80. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2006.07.005
- Wahl, O. F. (1999). Mental health consumers' experience of stigma. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 25, 467–478. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournal-s.schbul.a033394
- Wahl, O. F. (2003). Media madness: Public images of mental illness. New Brunswick,
 NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Warner, R., Taylor, D., Powers, M., & Hyman. J. (1989). Acceptance of the mental illness label by psychotic patients: Effects on functioning. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 59, 398–409. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.1989.tb01675.x
- Watson, A. C., & Corrigan, P. W. (2005). Challenging public stigma: A targeted approach. In P. Corrigan (Ed.) *On the stigma of mental illness: Practical strategies for research and social change* (pp. 281–295). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Watson, A. C., Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., & Sells, M. (2007). Self-stigma in people with mental illness. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *33*, 1312–1318. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbl076

- Watson, A. C., & River, L. P. (2005). A social-cognitive model of personal responses to stigma. In P. Corrigan (Ed.), *On the stigma of mental illness practical strategies for research and social change* (pp. 145–164). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Weng, S. S., & Spaulding-Givens, J. (2017). Strategies for working with Asian

 Americans in mental health: Community members' policy perspectives and recommendations. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Service Research*, 1–11. doi:10.1007/s10488-016-0784-8
- Westbrook M. T., Legge V., & Pennay, M. (1993). Attitudes towards disabilities in a multicultural society. *Social Science & Medicine*, *36*, 615–623. doi:10.1016/0277 -9536(93)90058-C
- Wong, E. C., Collins, R. L., Cerully, J. L., Seelam, R., & Roth, E. (2016). *Racial and ethnic differences in mental illness stigma and discrimination among Californians experiencing mental health challenges*. Rand Corporation. Retrieved from http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR1400/RR1441/RAND RR1441.pdf
- Yan, Y. (2003). Private life under socialism: Love, intimacy, and family change in a Chinese village. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Yang, L. H. (2007). Application of stigma theory to Chinese groups with mental illness: Synthesis and new directions. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 48, 977–985.

- Yang, L. H., Chen, F., Sia, K. J., Lam, J., Lam, K., Ngo, H., ... Good, B. (2014). "What matters most:" A cultural mechanism moderating structural vulnerability and moral experience of mental illness stigma. Social Science & Medicine, 103, 84–93. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.09.009
- Yang, L. H., & Kleinman, A. (2008). 'Face' and the embodiment of stigma: Schizophrenia and AIDS in China. Social Science & Medicine, 67, 398–408. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.011
- Yang, L. H., Kleinman, A., & Cho, S. (2008). Stigma of mental illness. In K.Heggenhougen & S. R. Quah (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of public health* (Vol. 6, pp. 219–230). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Yang, L. H., Kleinman, A., Link, B. G., Phelan, J. C., Lee, S., & Good, B. (2007).
 Culture and stigma: Adding moral experience to stigma theory. *Social Science & Medicine*, 64, 1524–1535. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.11.013
- Yang, L. H., Lai, G. Y., Tu, M., Luo, M., Wonpat-Borja, A., Jackson, V. W., ... Dixon, L.
 (2014). A brief anti-stigma intervention for Chinese immigrant caregivers of individuals with psychosis: Adaptation and initial findings. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 51, 139–157. doi:10.1177/1363461513512015
- Yang, L. H., Phelan, J. C., & Link, B. G. (2008). Stigma and beliefs of efficacy towards traditional Chinese medicine and Western psychiatric treatment among Chinese-Americans. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 14, 10–18. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.14.1.10

- Yang, L. H., Phillips, M. R., Lo, G., Chou, Y., Zhang, X., & Hopper, K. (2010).
 "Excessive thinking" as explanatory model for schizophrenia: Impacts on stigma and "moral" status in Mainland China. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 36, 836–845. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn180
- Yang, L. H., Purdie-Vaughns, V., Kotabe, H., Link, B. G., Saw, A., Wong, G., & Phelan, J. C. (2013). Culture, threat, and mental illness stigma: Identifying culture-specific threat among Chinese-American groups. *Social Science & Medicine*, 88, 56–67. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.03.036
- Yang, L. H., & Singla, D. R., (2011). Use of indigenous cultural idioms by Chinese relatives for psychosis: Impacts on stigma and psychoeducational approaches. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 199, 872–878. doi:10.1097/NMD .0b013e3182349eb7
- Yanos, P. T., Roe, D., Markus, K., & Lysaker, P. H. (2008). Pathways between internalized stigma and outcomes related to recovery in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, *59*, 1437–1442. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.59.12.1437
- Yee, B. (2003). Occasional paper 3: Asian mental health recovery-follow up to the Asian report. Wellington: Mental Health Commission.
- Yow, T. S., & Mehta, K. (2010). Perceived stigma and coping strategies among Asians with schizophrenia: The Singapore case. *International Social Work, 53*, 379–392. doi:10.1177/0020872809359866
- Yue, X. D. (1994). An ethnographic study of coping strategies among Chinese college students in Beijing. *Educational Research Journal*, *9*(1), 65–76.

- Zane, N., & Yeh, M. (2002). The use of culturally-based variables in assessment: Studies on loss of face. In S. Okazaki & K. S. Kurasaki (Eds.), *Asian American mental health: Assessment theories and methods* (pp. 123–138). New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Press Publishers. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0735-2_9
- Zhou, R. Y., Zhang, Y. H., Peng, B., Lie, X. H., & Zhu, C. M. (1997). Comparison of three diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of schizophrenia and mood disorders. *Chinese Journal of Psychiatry*, 30, 45–49.

Appendix A: Demographic Characteristics Questionnaires

- 1. Gender
- 2. Age
- 3. Years of education
- 4. Country of birth
 - —Years in the U.S. if born overseas
 - —Legal status in the U.S.
- 5. Marital status
- 6. Religious affiliation
- 7. Employment status
- 8. Participant income
- 9. Onset age of illness
- 10. Duration of illness
- 11. Number of psychiatric hospitalizations
- 12. Duration of the most recent hospitalization

Appendix B: Link's Devaluation –Discrimination Scale (DDS)

Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
Disagree				Agree
1	2	2.5	3	4

- 1. Most people in your community think that a person with a serious mental illness is dangerous and unpredictable.
- 2. Most people in your community feel that having a mental illness is worse than being addicted to drugs.
- 3. Most people in your community would accept a person who once had a serious mental illness as a close friend.
- 4. Most people in your community look down on someone who once was a patient in a mental hospital.
- 5. Most employers will hire a person who once had a serious mental illness if he or she is qualified for the job.
- 6. Most people in your community think less of a person who has been a patient in a mental hospital.
- 7. Most people in your community feel that entering psychiatric treatment is a sign of disgrace.
- 8. Most young women would not marry a man who has been treated for a serious mental disorder.
- 9. Most people in your community think that having a mental illness would cause a person to lose face.

Reference

Link, B. G. (1987). Understanding labeling effects in the area of mental disorders: An assessment of the effects of expectation of rejections. *American Sociological Review*, 52, 96–112.

Appendix C: Mental Health Consumers' Experience of Stigma Scale

A. Experiences in the General Community

1. Have you been in situations where you have heard others say unfavorable or offensive things about people who have mental illness?

Yes No

2. Have you seen or read things in the mass media (e.g. television, movies, books) about people who have mental illnesses that you find offensive?

Yes No

—Direct Negative Treatment:

3. Have you been treated as less competent by others when they learned that you have this condition?

Yes No

4. Have you been shunned or avoided when it was revealed that you have this condition?

Yes No

—Direct Positive Treatment:

5. Have you been treated fairly by others who know that you have this condition?

Yes No

6. Have people been supportive and understanding when they learned that you have this condition?

Yes No

B. Rejection from General Community

	it was known that you have this condition?
	Yes No
C.	Education—Negative Treatment
	8. Have you been denied educational opportunities (for example, acceptance
	into schools) when it was revealed that you have this condition?
	Yes No
D.	Employment—Positive Treatment
	9. Have coworkers or supervisors at work been supportive and
	accommodating when they learned that you have this condition?
	Yes No
	—Negative Treatment
	10. Have you been turned down for a job for which you were qualified when it
	was revealed that you have this condition?
	Yes No
E.	<u>Family—Negative Treatment</u>
	11. Have family members looked down on you when they found out that you
	have this condition?
	Yes No
	a. Did family members tell you not to tell others about your condition?
	Yes No
F.	Doctor/Health Professional—Positive Treatment

7. Have you been excluded from volunteer or social activities by others when

12. Have doctors or other health professionals treated you fairly and respectfully while treating you for this condition?

Yes No

G. Dating/Marriage—Negative Treatment

13. Have you had a spouse or romantic partner break up with you because of this condition?

Yes No

14. Does having this condition make it more difficult to find a spouse or romantic partner?

Yes No

H. Housing – Negative Treatment

15. Have you had difficulty renting an apartment or finding other housing when your condition was known?

Yes No

I. <u>Legal—Negative Treatment</u>

16. Have you had the fact that you have this condition used against you in legal proceedings (such as child custody or divorce disputes)?

Yes No

J. Police—Negative Treatment

17. Have you been treated disrespectfully or unfairly by law enforcement officers when they learned that you have this condition?

Yes No

K. Intersubjective Stigmatization

18. Have you encountered situations where people "give off" a sense of
stigmatization even if something is not explicitly said to you?
Yes No
—How is this sense of stigmatization conveyed by others?
Structural Discrimination – Negative Treatment
19. Have you experienced difficulty in receiving adequate psychiatric services
because of a lack of doctors who can speak your language?
Yes No
—Due to a lack of insurance
Yes No
—Due to having an illegal citizenship status?
Yes No
—Due to a lack of monetary resources?

Reference

Yes

No

L.

Wahl, O. F. (1999). Mental health consumers' experience of stigma. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 25(3), 467–478.

Appendix D: Experience Loss of Face

1. I	How mu	ich loss	of face	have yo	ou expe	rienced	due to your condition?	
Not	at all						Very Strongly	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
2 How much shame do you feel due to your condition?								
Not	at all						Very Strongly	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
3. How much embarrassment do you feel due to your condition?								
Not	at all						Very Strongly	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

Appendix E: Coping Strategies

- 1. Regarding your most recent hospitalization, do people know that you have been hospitalized? Do people know that you have this condition?
- 2. Did you tell other people or did the person find out by accident?
- 3. Do you feel that you are better off not telling people about this?

Why?

- —Follow up "Are there certain people who you might tell and certain people who you might not tell?"
- 4. If other people know, how do you think that they will view this or act towards you?
 - —Does anybody act differently towards you because of your condition, or because you take medication?

Appendix F: Code Book

Codes Themes Indifference Coping Strategies (Secrecy) (Doesn't care if illness is known by others) (Illness isn't a big deal) (Disclosure) Secrecy (It's better that others don't know) (won't tell anyone outside of family) (I absolutely won't tell anyone) Disclosure (would tell some friends) (church has good people) Fear of rejection Reasons for Secrecy (sickness will affect my life) (Fear of rejection) (others will avoid you and keep distance) (Loss of face) Loss of Face (unnecessary to disclose) (Not a bright thing) (A shameful thing) (they will look down on me) Unnecessary to disclose (ability to do things after getting well) (focus on getting treatment) (It's one's own business) Support from Others Reasons for disclosure (will receive assistance from others) (Social support) (others offer comfort) (Honesty) Genuine relationship (Acceptance of illness) (Won't lie to friends) (it feels good to have people know) Focus on Achievement (I am still young and have hand & feet) (Keeping dreams alive) Disclosure Strategies Humor (tell others like a joke) (Humor) (Concealment) Concealment (Involuntary disclosure) (didn't sleep well) (went out of town to study) (will change the way in telling people) Involuntary disclosure (impossible to hide) (family members told others)

(incidents was on newspaper)

Appendix G: Bivariate Correlations Among Key Variables by Employment

		1	2	3	4	5
Unemployed						
1 Internalized stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	1 34	.15 .39 34	.23 .19 34	.13 .47 34	24 .17 34
2 Experienced stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed)	.15 .39 34	1 38	.54** .001 34	.16 .38 35	10 .56 35
3 Loss of face	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed)	.23 .19 34	.54** .001 34	1 34	.40* .02	26 .14 34
4 Secrecy	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.13 .47 34	.16 .38 35	.40* .02	1 35	78** .000 35
5 Disclosure	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	24 .17 34	10 .56 35	26 .14 34	78** .000 35	1 35
Employed						
1 Internalized stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	1 18	.32 .20 18	.34 .16 18	46 .06 17	.42 .09 17
2 Experienced stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.32 .20 18	1 18	.31 .22 18	27 .30 17	.36 .15 17
3 Loss of face	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.34 .16 18	.31 .22 18	1 18	04 .87 17	.11 .67 17
4 Secrecy	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed)	46 .06 17	27 .30 17	04 .87 17	1 17	57* .02 17
5 Disclosure	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.42 .09 17	.36 .15 17	.11 .67 17	57* .02 17	1 17

Note: **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed); *. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).

Appendix H: Bivariate Correlations Among Key Variables by Religion

		1	2	3	4	5
Eastern religion						
1 Internalized stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	1 34	.30 .09 34	.53** .001 34	01 .96 33	04 .84 33
2 Experienced stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.30 .09 34	1 35	.29 .10 34	.07 .70 34	.19 .29 34
3 Loss of face	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.53** .001 34	.29 .10 34	1 34	.16 .37 33	.08 .67 33
4 Secrecy	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	01 .96 33	.07 .70 34	.16 .37 33	1 34	65** .000 34
5 Disclosure	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	04 .84 33	.19 .29 34	.08 .67 33	65** .000 34	1 34
Non-Eastern religion						
1 Internalized stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	1 17	.12 .64 17	.15 .57 17	03 .90 17	17 .52 17
2 Experienced stigma	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.12 .64 17	1 17	.64** .01 17	02 .94 17	18 .49 17
3 Loss of face	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	.15 .57 17	.64** .01 17	1 17	.24 .35 17	18 .50 17
4 Secrecy	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	03 .90 17	02 .94 17	.24 .35 17	1 17	72** .001 17
5 Disclosure	Pearson correlation Sig. (two-tailed) N	17 .52 17	18 .49 17	18 .50 17	72** .001 17	1 17

Note: **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).